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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
 
Item 1. Consolidated Financial Statements
 

OSI SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands, except share amounts)
 

   

December 31,
2003

  

June 30,
2003

 

ASSETS          

Current Assets:          
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 85,356  $ 94,246 
Marketable securities, available-for sale    3,497   3,973 
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $1,197 and $1,098 at December 31, 2003 and June

30, 2003, respectively    38,988   36,901 
Other receivables    2,873   2,549 
Inventory    49,440   42,415 
Prepaid expenses    3,042   1,264 
Deferred income taxes    5,797   5,473 
Prepaid income taxes    361   191 

     
Total current assets    189,354   187,012 

Property and equipment, net    14,524   14,115 
Goodwill    14,917   11,436 
Intangible assets, net    14,762   14,055 
Other assets    440   665 
Investments    2,542   1,697 
Deferred income taxes    606   558 
     

Total   $ 237,145  $ 229,538 

     

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY          

Current Liabilities:          
Bank lines of credit   $ 151  $ —   
Current portion of long-term debt    2,625   2,625 
Accounts payable    19,395   14,524 
Accrued payroll and related expenses    4,900   5,122 
Income taxes payable    3,627   3,192 
Advances from customers    4,917   6,648 
Accrued warranties    2,410   2,782 
Provision for losses on long-term contract    2,445   4,644 
Other accrued expenses and current liabilities    4,705   5,559 

     
Total current liabilities    45,175   45,096 

Long-term debt    524   1,838 
Accrued pension    1,478   1,340 
Deferred income taxes    630   630 
Minority interest    1,484   235 
     

Total liabilities    49,291   49,139 
Shareholders' Equity          

Preferred stock, no par value; authorized, 10,000,000 shares; none issued and outstanding at December 31, 2003 and
June 30, 2003, respectively          

Common stock, no par value; authorized, 40,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding 14,607,586 and 14,519,903
shares at December 31, 2003 and June 30, 2003, respectively    136,531   135,884 

Retained earnings    49,334   45,005 
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)    1,989   (490)

     

Total shareholders' equity    187,854   180,399 
     

Total   $ 237,145  $ 229,538 

     
 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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OSI SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
 

   

Three months
ended December 31,

  

Six months
ended December 31,

 

   

2003

  

2002

  

2003

  

2002

 
Revenues   $ 51,095  $ 43,673  $ 89,740  $ 80,774 
Cost of goods sold    36,498   29,186   62,577   53,307 
      
Gross profit    14,597   14,487   27,163   27,467 

Operating expenses:                  
Selling, general and administrative    8,189   6,771   15,710   13,590 
Research and development    2,373   2,215   4,410   3,761 
Restructuring charges            1,061     

      
Total operating expenses    10,562   8,986   21,181   17,351 

      
Income from operations    4,035   5,501   5,982   10,116 
Interest income    (301)   (290)   (611)   (603)
Interest expense    80   83   167   222 
Write-off of deferred acquisition costs        608       608 
Impairment of equity investment            247     

      
Income before provision for income taxes and minority interest    4,256   5,100   6,179   9,889 

Provision for income taxes    1,221   1,302   1,804   2,885 
      
Income before minority interest    3,035   3,798   4,375   7,004 

Minority interest    9   (38)   (48)   (43)
      
Net income   $ 3,044  $ 3,760  $ 4,327  $ 6,961 

      

Earnings per share   $ 0.21  $ 0.26  $ 0.30  $ 0.51 

      

Diluted earnings per share   $ 0.20  $ 0.25  $ 0.29  $ 0.49 

      

Weighted average shares outstanding    14,587,369   14,320,469   14,563,052   13,571,432 

      

Weighted average shares outstanding - assuming dilution    15,077,424   14,842,002   14,981,827   14,099,600 

      
 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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OSI SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)
 

   

Six months ended
December 31,

 

   

2003

  

2002

 
Cash flows from operating activities:          

Net income   $ 4,327  $ 6,961 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:          

Provision for losses on accounts receivable    86   265 
Depreciation and amortization    2,418   1,629 
Write-off of deferred acquisition costs    —     608 
Impairment of equity Investment    247   —   
Gain on sale of marketable securities    (90)   —   
Deferred income taxes    —     (1,741)
Restructuring charges    1,061   —   
Minority interest    48   44 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities net of business acquisitions:          

Accounts receivable    1,163   4,380 
Other receivables    (429)   (992)
Inventory    (4,599)   (9,158)
Prepaid expenses    (1,604)   (42)
Accounts payable    4,727   869 
Accrued payroll and related expenses    (283)   333 
Income taxes payable    363   1,927 
Advances from customers    (3,702)   4,985 
Accrued warranties    (391)   463 
Other accrued expenses and current liabilities    (3,106)   (490)

    
Net cash provided by operating activities    236   10,041 

    
Cash flows from investing activities:          

Purchases of property and equipment    (1,065)   (1,607)
Cash paid for business acquisitions, net of cash acquired    (10,106)   (2,829)
Cash received on note receivable    —     200 
Purchase of equity investment included in other assets    (1,113)   (2,561)
Other assets    (63)   (965)
Cash proceeds from sale of marketable securities    1,658   —   
Cash proceeds from the sale of minority interest and distribution rights for Dolphin Medical    2,000   —   

    
Net cash used in investing activities    (8,689)   (7,762)

    
Cash flows from financing activities:          

Net proceeds from bank lines of credit    141   130 
Payments on long-term debt    (1,317)   (1,320)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and warrants    647   216 
Proceeds from issuance of stock    —     20,545 

    
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities    (529)   19,571 

    
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash    92   15 
    
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents    (8,890)   21,865 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period    94,246   67,604 
    
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period   $ 85,356  $ 89,469 

    
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information - Cash paid/(received) during the period for:          

Interest, net   $ (479)  $ (416)
Income taxes   $ 1,785  $ 2,770 

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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OSI SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
 General – OSI Systems, Inc. and its subsidiaries is a vertically integrated, worldwide provider of security and inspection systems, medical monitoring and
imaging systems, and opto-electronic devices and value-added subsystems.
 
We design, manufacture and market security and inspection systems worldwide to end users under the “Ancore,” “Eagle,” “Metor,” “Rapiscan,” and “Secure,”
brand names. These products are used to inspect people, baggage, cargo, vehicles and other objects for weapons, explosives, drugs and other contraband. These
systems are also used for the safe, accurate and efficient verification of cargo manifests for the purpose of assessing duties and monitoring the export and import
of controlled materials.
 
In the medical field, we design, manufacture and market arterial hemoglobin saturation monitors and sensors, including hand-held and wireless monitoring tools
under the trade names “Dolphin,” “NuCat,” “Dolphin ONE,” “Aristo,” and “Dolphin 2000”. We also design, manufacture and market peripheral bone
densitometers, which are used to provide bone density measurements in the diagnosis of osteoporosis, and to assess the risk of developing osteoporosis.
 
Our opto-electronic devices and subsystems are used in a broad range of applications, including printed circuit board assembly and surface mounting
technologies, aerospace and defense electronics, security and inspection systems, medical diagnostics, fiber optics, telecommunications, gaming, office
automation, computer peripherals and industrial automation. We design and manufacture opto-electronic devices and subsystems for others through OEM
arrangements, as well as for our security and medical equipment businesses.
 
Consolidation – The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of OSI Systems, Inc. and its subsidiaries. All significant inter-company accounts and
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. The consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2003, consolidated statements of operations for the three
and six months ended December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002 and cash flows for the six-month periods ended December 31, 2003, and December 31, 2002
have been prepared by us, without audit, pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission. Certain information and footnote
disclosures normally included in annual financial statements prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of
America have been condensed or omitted pursuant to such rules and regulations. However, in the opinion of management, all adjustments, consisting of only
normal and recurring adjustments, necessary for a fair presentation of the financial position and the results of operations for the periods presented have been
included. These consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements
and accompanying notes for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2003 included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on September 29, 2003. The results of operations for the three and six months ended December 31, 2003 are not necessarily indicative of the results
to be expected for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2004.
 
Recent Developments
 In December 2003, we negotiated an Amended and Restated Credit Agreement with Bank of the West. The Agreement provides for a $50 million line of credit,
which includes revolving line, letter of credit, acceptance, and foreign exchange facilities. In addition, we have a $3.3 million balance on an existing term loan
with the same bank. Advances under the lines of credit
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bear interest at a rate equal to a variable bank reference rate plus a margin, or at our option at a fixed rate as quoted by the bank upon request for specific
advances. The new credit facilities expire in November 2005. Borrowings under the agreement are secured by liens on substantially all of our assets and the assets
of our U.S. subsidiaries.
 
The Amended and Restated Credit Agreement contains certain covenants. Among these, we are at all times required to maintain (on a consolidated basis) a
tangible net worth of at least $120 million; effective tangible net worth for any fiscal year to increase by a minimum of 75% of our net income for that year; a
ratio of debt to earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization of not more than 2.5 to 1; a ratio of current assets to current liabilities of not less than
1.25 to 1; a debt coverage ratio of 1.5 to 1; and a minimum balance of cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities of $20 million. In addition, the
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement includes certain other covenants concerning pre-approval by the bank of mergers and acquisitions, the payment of
dividends on our stock, the purchase or retirement of our stock, the sale of assets outside the ordinary course of business, and capital expenditures in excess of
$10 million, among others. As of December 31, 2003, we were in compliance with all the covenants under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement. As of
December 31, 2003, we had utilized $4.7 million under the letter of credit facility.
 
In December 2003, we entered into a Stock Purchase and Option Agreement with Conmed Corporation, whereby Conmed Corporation purchased a 10% interest
in our subsidiary, Dolphin Medical, Inc. and an option to purchase all of the remaining assets and the business of Dolphin Medical, Inc. In addition, Conmed
Corporation and Dolphin Medical, Inc. entered into a Distribution Agreement, which provides Conmed Corporation with distribution rights for certain Dolphin
Medical, Inc. products within certain defined territories. Conmed Corporation’s option to purchase the assets and business of Dolphin Medical, Inc. expires upon
the earlier of December 31, 2008 or the termination of the Distribution Agreement. Pursuant to the terms of the Stock Purchase and Option Agreement Conmed
Corporation paid us $2 million, of which $1.2 million has been recorded as minority interest, based on an independent valuation of Dolphin Medical, Inc., and
$0.8 million has been recorded as deferred income. The deferred income will be amortized over the life of the distribution agreement.
 
In December 2003, we acquired substantially all of the assets of J.D. Engineering (UK) Limited, a company registered in England and Wales. We paid
approximately 367,000 pounds sterling (or approximately $649,000) including acquisition costs. A further 90,000 pounds sterling (or approximately $150,000) is
payable March 22, 2004. The acquired assets comprise a business for the design, sale and manufacturing of, among other products, metal frames for x-ray
scanners.
 
The acquisition was made through our wholly owned subsidiary, Rapiscan Security Products Limited. The following table shows the preliminary allocation of the
purchase price (in thousands):
 

Fair value of assets (net of cash) acquired   $435
Goodwill    214
   
Total consideration paid in cash   $649
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In November 2003, we acquired substantially all of the remaining assets of Schwartz Electro-Optics, Inc. in a bankruptcy-court supervised auction. We paid
approximately $1.6 million, including acquisition costs. The acquired assets comprise a business for the design, sale and manufacturing of laser-based systems
used in traffic and toll management, precision agricultural management, and precision mapping and surveying. The business, located in Orlando, Florida now
operates under the name OSI Laserscan. The acquisition was made through our wholly owned subsidiary, OSI Defense Systems, LLC. We have not yet completed
the allocation of the purchase price between goodwill and identifiable intangible assets. The final determination may result in asset fair values and useful lives
that are different from the preliminary estimates of these amounts. The following table shows the preliminary allocation of the purchase price (in thousands):
 

Fair value of assets (net of cash) acquired   $ 676 
Goodwill    414 
Developed technology    300 
Customer relationships    250 
Liabilities assumed    (37)
   
Total consideration paid in cash   $1,603 

   
 
In October 2003, we acquired the assets of a manufacturing services company specializing in surface mount technology lines and PC board assembly operations
for approximately $4.4 million including acquisition costs. The acquisition was made through a wholly owned subsidiary, OSI Electronics, Inc. The purchase
price has been allocated to the assets acquired of $5.3 million and liabilities assumed of $1.0 million, based on the estimated fair values of the assets and liabilities
at the date of acquisition. The excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net assets acquired of $157,000 was allocated to intangible assets consisting
of the value of customer relationships, based on a preliminary independent valuation of those assets. We have not yet completed the allocation of the purchase
price between goodwill and identifiable intangible assets. The final determination may result in asset fair values and useful lives that are different from the
preliminary estimates of these amounts. The following table shows the preliminary allocation of purchase price (in thousands):
 

Fair value of assets (net of cash) acquired   $ 5,335 
Customer relationships    158 
Liabilities assumed    (1,050)
   
Total consideration paid in cash   $ 4,443 

   
 
In August 2003, we acquired certain assets representing the military laser-based training business of Schwartz Electro-Optics, Inc. The acquisition was made
through a newly formed, wholly owned subsidiary, OSI Defense Systems, LLC. The acquired business now develops and manufactures tactical engagement
simulation systems, man worn laser detectors, small arms transmitters, controller guns and a variety of targeting systems for the defense industry. The excess of
the purchase price over the fair value of the net assets acquired of $3.6 million was allocated between tangible assets, goodwill and identifiable intangible assets,
based on an independent valuation of those assets. The following table shows the purchase price allocation (in thousands).
 

Fair value of assets (net of cash) acquired   $ 102 
Goodwill    3,157 
Customer relationships    445 
Liabilities assumed    (43)
   
Total consideration paid in cash   $3,661 
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Supplemental pro-forma disclosures of results of operations for the three and six months ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, as though the above business
combinations had been completed as of July 1, 2002, are as follows (in thousands except per share amounts):
 

   

Three months ended
December 31

  

Six months ended
December 31

   

2003

  

2002

  

2003

  

2002

Revenue   $ 51,474  $ 53,194  $ 97,074  $ 102,749
Net income before tax and minority interest    4,169   5,980   5,857   7,103
Net income    2,982   4,416   4,102   5,162
Diluted earnings per share    0.20   0.30   0.27   0.37
 
Subsequent Events
 In January 2004, we announced a definitive agreement to purchase Issaquah, Washington based Spacelabs Medical from GE Medical Systems for approximately
$57 million in cash. The final purchase price is subject to closing adjustments. Spacelabs Medical is a leading global manufacturer and distributor of patient
monitoring products, an area in which we have considerable interest as it represents a natural extension of our engineering, product and manufacturing expertise.
Their installed base of patient monitoring systems consists of approximately 100,000 units worldwide, with 60,000 in the United States, 30,000 in Europe and
10,000 in Asia. Spacelabs’ trailing 12 months unaudited revenues were over $150 million. This agreement is subject to regulatory approvals in Europe and South
America and there is no assurance that it will be consummated.
 
In January 2004, we completed the acquisition of Advanced Research & Applications Corporation (“ARACOR”), a privately held company located in Sunnyvale,
California. Consideration for the acquisition consisted of an initial cash payment of approximately $17.3 million (net of cash acquired), including acquisition
costs. Furthermore, during the seven years after the close, contingent consideration is payable based on ARACOR’s net revenues, provided certain requirements
are met. The contingent consideration is capped at $30 million. ARACOR broadens our security product portfolio through its mobile x-ray inspection system, the
Eagle, which is designed for container scanning at busy ports.
 
New Accounting Pronouncements
 In November 2002, the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) reached a consensus on Issue No. 00-21, Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables. EITF
Issue No. 00-21 addresses certain aspects of the accounting by a vendor for arrangements under which it will perform multiple revenue-generating activities and
how arrangement considerations should be measured and allocated to the separate units of accounting in the arrangement. The provisions of EITF Issue No. 00-21
apply to revenue arrangements entered into in fiscal periods beginning after June 15, 2003. The adoption of EITF Issue No. 00-21 did not have a material effect
on our financial position or result of operations.
 
In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation Number 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities (“FIN 46”), an interpretation of Accounting Research
Bulletin No. 51. FIN 46 requires that variable interest entities be consolidated by a company if that company absorbs a majority of the entity’s expected losses,
receives a majority of its expected residual returns, or both, as a result of holding a variable interest. In December 2003, the FASB issued FIN 46R, which made
certain amendments to FIN 46. The provisions of FIN 46R are effective for the first interim or annual period ending after March 15, 2004 when certain conditions
are met by a variable interest entity. We anticipate that our adoption of FIN 46R will require that we consolidate our investment in an overseas-based research and
development venture focused on security technologies, which are currently accounted for under the equity method.
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Derivative Instruments
 Our use of derivatives consists of foreign exchange contracts used to manage foreign exchange risk, together with interest rate swaps on a variable interest rate
term loan used to manage interest rate risk. We purchase foreign exchange contracts to hedge foreign exchange exposure related to commitments to acquire
inventory for sale and accounts receivable and do not use the contracts for trading purposes. There were no foreign exchange contracts outstanding as of
December 31, 2003.
 
In February 2001 and August 2001, we entered into interest rate swaps. The purpose of the swaps is to convert a portion of our variable interest rate debt into a
fixed rate liability. The notional amount of the swaps was $2.9 million at December 31, 2003, and $4.2 million at June 30, 2003. The fair value of the swaps
before income taxes was ($18,000) at December 31, 2003 and ($90,000) at June 30, 2003. The change in the fair value from the previously reported period is
recorded in other comprehensive income (loss), due to the swaps meeting the criteria of an effective cash flow hedge. The swaps expire in June 2004.
 
Inventory
 Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or market; cost is determined on the first-in, first-out method. Inventory consisted of the following (in thousands):
 

   

December 31,
2003

  

June 30,
2003

Raw materials   $ 24,817  $ 19,327
Work-in-process    16,675   13,097
Finished goods    7,948   9,991
     

Total   $ 49,440  $ 42,415

     
 
Accounts Receivable
 Accounts receivable consisted of the following (in thousands):
 

   

December 31,
2003

  

June 30,
2003

Trade receivables, net   $ 38,870  $ 36,855
Receivables related to long term contracts – unbilled costs and accrued profit on progress completed    118   46
     

Total   $ 38,988  $ 36,901

     
 
We expect to bill and collect the unbilled costs and accrued profits at December 31, 2003 during the next twelve months.
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Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets:
 The changes in carrying value of goodwill for the six months ended December 31, 2003 is as follows (in thousands):
 

   

North
America

  

Europe

  

Asia

  

Consolidated

 
Balance as of June 2003   $ 8,086  $ 3,350      $ 11,436 
Reduction related to net operating losses acquired on purchase of Ancore Corporation    (631)           (631)
Goodwill acquired during the period    3,570   214       3,784 
Foreign currency translation adjustments    5   323       328 
        
Balance as of December 31, 2003   $ 11,030  $ 3,887  $  —    $ 14,917 

        
 
Other intangible assets consisted of the following (in thousands):
 

      

Dec 31, 2003

  

June 30, 2003

   

Range
of Life

  

Gross
Carrying
Amount

  

Accumulated
Amortization

  

Intangibles
net

  

Gross
Carrying
Amount

  

Accumulated
Amortization

  

Intangibles
net

Purchased software   5-7 yrs  $ 327  $ 278  $ 49  $ 327  $ 243  $ 84
Software development costs   5 yrs   2,222   909   1,313   2,144   752   1,392
Patents   20 yrs   408   116   292   408   96   312
Core technology   30 yrs   6,800   245   6,555   6,800   132   6,668
Developed technology   5-20yrs   6,150   408   5,742   5,850   251   5,599
Customer relationships/backlog   5yrs   853   42   811            

                
      $ 16,760  $ 1,998  $ 14,762  $ 15,529  $ 1,474  $ 14,055

                
 
Amortization expense for the six months ended December 31, 2003 was approximately $524,000. At December 31, 2003, estimated future amortization expense
is as follows (in thousands):
 

Fiscal years

  

Future
amortization

Remaining 6 months of 2004   $ 578
2005    1,104
2006    1,132
2007    1,083
2008    867
2009    622
2010 and thereafter    9,376
   
   $ 14,762

   
 
Stock Based Compensation
 We apply the intrinsic value-based method of accounting prescribed by APBO No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and related interpretations to
account for our stock options. Under this method, compensation expense is generally recorded on the date of grant only if the current market price of the
underlying stock exceeded the exercise price. We have adopted the disclosure-only provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”,
and SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation-Transition and Disclosure”, which was released in December of 2002 as an amendment to SFAS
No. 123. These statements establish accounting and disclosure requirements using a fair value-based method of accounting for stock-based employee
compensation plans. As allowed by SFAS No. 123 and SFAS No. 148, we elected to continue to apply the intrinsic value-based method of accounting described
above.
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We account for option grants to non-employees using the guidance of SFAS No. 123, as amended by SFAS No. 148, and EITF No. 96-18, whereby the fair value
of such options is determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model at the earlier of the date at which the non-employee’s performance is complete or a
performance commitment is reached.
 
In accordance with the intrinsic value method, no compensation cost has been recognized for our stock option grants in the accompanying financial statements. If
the fair value-based method had been applied in measuring stock compensation expense under SFAS No. 123, as amended by SFAS No. 148, the pro forma effect
on net earnings and net earnings per share would have been as follows (in thousands, except share and per share amounts):
 

   

Three months
ended

December 31,

  

Six months
ended

December 31,

 

   

2003

  

2002

  

2003

  

2002

 
Net earnings as reported   $ 3,044  $ 3,760  $ 4,327  $ 6,961 
Add: Stock based compensation expense included in reported net earnings, net of related tax benefits                  
Deduct: Stock based employee compensation expense determined under the fair value-based method

for all awards, net of related tax effects    (683)   (561)   (1,356)   (1,068)
      
Pro forma net earnings   $ 2,361  $ 3,199  $ 2,971  $ 5,893 

      
Earnings per common share                  
As reported   $ 0.21  $ 0.26  $ 0.30  $ 0.51 
Pro forma    0.16   0.22   0.20   0.43 
Diluted earnings per share                  
As reported   $ 0.20  $ 0.25  $ 0.29  $ 0.49 
Pro forma    0.16   0.22   0.20   0.42 
 
Earnings per Share
 We have reflected the provisions of SFAS No.128, “Earnings per Share”, in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for all periods presented.
Earnings per common share are computed using the weighted-average number of shares outstanding during the period. Earnings per common share, assuming
dilution, are computed using the weighted-average number of shares outstanding during the period plus the dilutive effect of potential common stock. Potential
common stock types are stock options and purchase rights.
 
Stock options and rights to purchase a total of 1,170,250 and 1,191,048 shares were outstanding for the three and six months ended December 31, 2003, but were
not included in diluted earnings per common share because to do so would have been anti-dilutive. Stock options and rights to purchase rights totaling 1,426,462
shares were outstanding for the three and six months ended December 31, 2002, but were not included in diluted earnings per common share because to do so
would have been anti-dilutive. The following table reconciles the numerator and denominator used in calculating earnings per common share and earnings per
common share-assuming dilution.
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For the three months ended December 31,

 

   

2003

  

2002

 

   

Income
(Numerator)

  

Shares
(Denominator)

  

Per
Share

Amount

  

Income
(Numerator)

  

Shares
(Denominator)

  

Per
Share

Amount

 
Earnings per common share                        
Income available to common stockholders   $ 3,044,000  14,587,369  $ 0.21  $ 3,760,000  14,320,469  $ 0.26 
Effect of dilutive securities                        
Options and warrants, treasury stock method       490,055   (0.01)      521,533   (0.01)
            
Diluted earnings per common share                        
Income available to common stockholders,

assuming dilution   $ 3,044,000  15,077,424  $ 0.20  $ 3,760,000  14,842,002  $ 0.25 

            

   

For the six months ended December 31,

 

   

2003

  

2002

 

   

Income
(Numerator)

  

Shares
(Denominator)

  

Per
Share

Amount

  

Income
(Numerator)

  

Shares
(Denominator)

  

Per
Share

Amount

 
Earnings per common share                        
Income available to common stockholders   $ 4,327,000  14,563,052  $ 0.30  $ 6,961,000  13,571,432  $ 0.51 
Effect of dilutive securities                        
Options and warrants, treasury stock method       418,775   (0.01)      528,168   (0.02)
            
Diluted earnings per common share                        
Income available to common stockholders,

assuming dilution   $ 4,327,000  14,981,827  $ 0.29  $ 6,961,000  14,099,600  $ 0.49 

            
 
Comprehensive Income
 Comprehensive income is computed as follows (in thousands):
 

   

For the three
months ended
December 31,

  

For the six
months ended
December 31,

 

   

2003

  

2002

  

2003

  

2002

 
Net Income   $ 3,044  $ 3,760  $ 4,327  $ 6,961 
Foreign currency translation adjustments    1,209   744   1,666   1,058 
Unrealised gain/(loss) on marketable securities available for sale    271   132   761   (394)
Change in the fair value of derivative instruments    26   27   52   (8)
         
Comprehensive Income   $ 4,550  $ 4,663  $ 6,806  $ 7,617 

         
 
Contingencies
 We are involved in various claims and legal proceedings arising out of the conduct of our business. In the opinion of our management after consultation with
outside legal counsel, the ultimate disposition of such proceedings will not have a material adverse effect on our financial position, future results of operations or
cash flows.
 
Provision for Warranties - We offer our customers warranties on products sold to them. These warranties typically provide for repairs and maintenance of our
products for a specified time period. Concurrent with the sale of products, a provision for estimated warranty expenses is recorded with a corresponding increase
in cost of goods sold. This provision is adjusted periodically based on historical and anticipated experience. Actual expenses of repairs under warranty, including
parts and labor, are charged to this provision when incurred.
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For the six months ended December 31, 2003, the changes in warranty provisions were as follows (in thousands):
 

   

Provision
for

Warranties

 
Balance as of June 30, 2003   $ 2,782 
Additions    481 
Reductions for warranty repair costs    (431)
   
Balance on September 30, 2003    2,832 
   
Additions    458 
Reductions for warranty repair costs    (880)
   
Balance on December 31, 2003   $ 2,410 

   
 
Segment Information
 We have adopted SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information” (“SFAS No. 131”). We have reflected the provisions of
SFAS No. 131 in the accompanying financial statements for all periods presented. We operate in two identifiable industry segments, (a) security and inspection
products and (b) opto-electronic devices and subsystems and medical monitoring and imaging systems. Revenues for the three months ended December 31, 2003
from the sale of security and inspection products were $29.0 million compared to $27.7 million for the comparable prior year period and revenues from the sale of
opto-electronic devices and subsystems and medical monitoring and imaging systems for the three months ended December 31, 2003, were $22.1 million
compared to $16.0 million for the comparable prior year period. For the six months ended December 31, 2003 revenues from the sale of security and inspection
products were $52.7 million compared to $51.8 million for the comparable prior year period and revenues from the sale of optoelectronic devices and subsystems
and medical monitoring and imaging systems were $37.0 million compared to $29.0 million for the comparable prior year period.
 
Segment information is provided by geographic area. We are vertically integrated and we share common resources and facilities. Therefore, with the exception of
external revenues, meaningful information by industry or product segment is not available.
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Our operating locations include North America (Canada and the United States), Europe (Finland, Norway, and the United Kingdom) and Asia (India, Malaysia,
and Singapore). Revenue and income from operations generated in a particular geographic segment can be significantly affected by changes in prices or mix of
inter-company product sales. Our operations by geographical areas are as follows (in thousands):
 
Three months ended December 31, 2003
 

   

North
America

  

Europe

  

Asia

  

Eliminations

  

Consolidated

Product revenues   $ 35,826  $ 10,487  $ 2,292      $ 48,605
Service revenue    973   1,433   84       2,490
Transfer between geographic    2,419   1,792   10,765   (14,976)   0
         
Net revenue   $ 39,218  $ 13,712  $ 13,141  $ (14,976)  $ 51,095
         
Income (loss) from operations   $ 672  $ 1,372  $ 2,473  $ (482)  $ 4,035
         
Identifiable assets   $ 399,855  $ 37,256  $ 44,258  $ (244,224)  $ 237,145
Capital expenditure   $ 577  $ 57  $ 71  $ —    $ 705
Depreciation   $ 556  $ 185  $ 184  $ —    $ 924

Six months ended December 31, 2003                     

   

North
America

  

Europe

  

Asia

  

Eliminations

  

Consolidated

Product revenues   $ 60,036  $ 18,540  $ 6,228      $ 84,804
Service revenue    2,116   2,731   89       4,936
Transfer between geographic    3,501   2,727   19,873   (26,101)   0
         
Net revenue   $ 65,653  $ 23,998  $ 26,190  $ (26,101)  $ 89,740
         
Income (loss) from operations   $ (479)  $ 1,936  $ 4,659  $ (134)  $ 5,982
         
Identifiable assets   $ 399,855  $ 37,256  $ 44,258  $ (244,224)  $ 237,145
Capital expenditure   $ 850  $ 122  $ 93  $ —    $ 1,065
Depreciation   $ 1,177  $ 355  $ 362  $ —    $ 1,894
 
For the six months ended December 31, 2003, the North America geographic segment includes a pre-tax restructuring charge of $1,061,000 consisting primarily
of write-off of equipment and leasehold improvements of $993,000 that were abandoned during the period and charges related to the clean up of a vacated facility
of $60,000.
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Three months ended December 31, 2002
 

   

North
America

  

Europe

  

Asia

  

Eliminations

  

Consolidated

Product revenues   $ 30,929  $ 7,655  $ 3,415      $ 41,999
Service revenue    480   1,166   28       1,674
Transfer between geographic    2,092   2,463   9,862   (14,417)   0
          
Net revenue   $ 33,501  $ 11,284  $ 13,305  $ (14,417)  $ 43,673
          
Income (loss) from operations   $ 3,606  $ 867  $ 337  $ 691  $ 5,501
          
Identifiable assets   $ 378,384  $ 30,364  $ 38,588  $ (222,904)  $ 224,432
Capital expenditure   $ 329  $ 51  $ 351  $ —    $ 731
Depreciation   $ 499  $ 140  $ 158  $ —    $ 797

Six months ended December 31, 2002                     

   

North
America

  

Europe

  

Asia

  

Eliminations

  

Consolidated

Product Revenues   $ 55,819  $ 15,517  $ 5,426      $ 76,762
Service Revenue    883   3,006   123       4,012
Transfer between Geographic    4,917   4,534   20,657   (30,108)   0
          
Net Revenue   $ 61,619  $ 23,057  $ 26,206  $ (30,108)  $ 80,774
          
Income (loss) from operations   $ 6,327  $ 1,800  $ 1,853  $ 136  $ 10,116
          
Identifiable assets   $ 378,384  $ 30,364  $ 38,588  $ (222,904)  $ 224,432
Capital expenditure   $ 851  $ 208  $ 548  $ —    $ 1,607
Depreciation   $ 762  $ 365  $ 324  $ —    $ 1,451
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
 

Cautionary Statement
 
Statements in this report on Form 10-Q that are forward-looking are based on current expectations, and actual results may differ materially. Forward-
looking statements involve numerous risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially, including, but not limited to, the possibilities
that the demand for our products may decline as a result of possible changes in general and industry specific economic conditions, the effects of competitive
pricing and such other risks and uncertainties as are described in this report on Form 10-Q, our Annual Report on Form 10-K and other documents
previously filed or hereafter filed by us from time to time with the Securities and Exchange Commission. All forward-looking statements speak only as of the
date made, and we undertake no obligation to update these forward-looking statements.
 
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
 The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based on our consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires us
to make judgments and estimates that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statement and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other
assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from such estimates under different assumptions or conditions.
 
Our critical accounting policies are described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K, previously filed by us with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
 
Executive Summary
 Our security and inspection systems business continues to grow. This growth occurred despite the completion during the first quarter of our contract to
manufacture pre-scanners and related electronics for Invision Technologies, Inc.’s CTX products. The Invision Technologies, Inc. contract contributed
approximately $22 million to our sales last year (including approximately $11 million in the first six months of fiscal 2003) compared to approximately $300,000
through the first six months this fiscal year. Our security and inspection systems business growth has occurred in both domestic and international markets and
stems from both our conventional parcel security and our cargo businesses.
 
We recently completed the acquisition of Advanced Research & Applications Corp. (“ARACOR”). This acquisition has strengthened our position in the cargo
security sector. ARACOR’s Eagle product is a large, x-ray based scanning system for containers and cargo. The Eagle was designed in partnership with U.S.
Customs and has gained the acceptance of U.S. Customs, as evidenced by its blanket purchase order of up to $40 million over the next 5 years. Including options
exercised by U.S. Customs, ARACOR has to date received orders totaling approximately $14 million for the Eagle product. Our security and inspection systems
business believes it now offers the broadest product line in the conventional and cargo security business, including x-ray, gamma-ray and neutron technologies
and hybrid products built on these technologies.
 
Our security and inspection systems group’s research and development activities have most recently focused on conventional parcel, large cargo and automated
baggage inspection, both for carry-on and checked baggage. In this regard, we are pleased that our XRD 1000 product has been selected by the U.S. Department
of Homeland Security to participate in a laboratory evaluation for explosives detection
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devices. While this in no way assures that this product will pass the test, we are happy to be considered by the government together with other suppliers.
 
Our opto-electronic devices and subsystems product sales have weakened along with the overall U.S. manufacturing sector. Revenues in this area continue to be
flat to lower than last year. In the first half of this fiscal year, however, our opto-electronic devices and subsystems group acquired several new promising
companies. In August, we purchased the military, laser-based training business of Schwartz Electro-Optics, Inc. We believe the products lines we acquired from
this company – now sold by our new OSI Defense Systems, LLC subsidiary – complement the defense product lines of our existing RapiTec, Inc. subsidiary.
Both OSI Defense Systems, LLC and RapiTec, Inc. develop and manufacture tactical engagement simulation systems, man worn laser detectors, small arms
transmitters, controller guns and a variety of targeting systems for the defense industry.
 
During the past fiscal quarter we also acquired from Schwartz Electro-Optics, Inc., a business for the design, sale and manufacturing of laser-based systems used
in traffic and toll management, precision agricultural management, and precision mapping and surveying. This business now operates under the name OSI
Laserscan and offers, among other products, a unique, patented laser range finder technology, which is rapidly gaining acceptance by traffic and toll management
authorities, as well as precision agricultural management and mapping and survey technologies.
 
In addition, our opto-electronic devices and subsystems group also purchased the assets of a manufacturing services company specializing in surface mount
technology lines and PC board assembly operations. The company – now operating as OSI Electronics, Inc. – has begun to provide our opto-electronic devices
and subsystems group with increased manufacturing capacity and technologies to support internal needs as well as to offer a broader manufacturing platform to
our existing customers.
 
Following these acquisitions, our total opto-electronic devices and subsystems product revenues grew by 38% in the quarter ended December 31, 2003 compared
to the same quarter last year.
 
Our medical monitoring and imaging products are experiencing strong sales growth, especially our pulse oximetry products, which compete directly with the
products of Nellcor. These products are receiving considerable interest as we have begun to introduce them in the United States and other countries worldwide
where key Nellcor patents have recently expired. In addition, in this quarter we sold a 10% interest in and an option to purchase our Dolphin Medical, Inc.
subsidiary to Conmed Corporation. We also granted Conmed Corporation exclusive marketing and distribution rights to certain Dolphin Medical, Inc. products in
the United States and other territories.
 
We announced in January 2004, that we have signed a definitive agreement with GE Medical Systems for the purchase of Spacelabs Medical. Spacelabs Medical
is a leading global manufacturer and distributor of patient monitoring products, an area in which we have considerable interest as it represents a natural extension
of our engineering, product and manufacturing expertise. The Spacelabs Medical installed base of patient monitoring systems consists of approximately 100,000
units worldwide, with 60,000 in the United States, 30,000 in Europe and 10,000 in Asia. Spacelabs Medical’s trailing 12 months unaudited revenues were over
$150 million. This agreement is subject to regulatory approvals in Europe and South America and there is no assurance that it will be consummated.
 
As a company, we continue to move towards the overall consolidation of our various businesses. We do so in order to generate manufacturing, sales force, and
administrative related efficiencies and to increase productivity. We also continue to invest in critical areas such as sales, marketing, and research and
development. Our gross margins in respective product areas continue to hold, however, with the inclusion of OSI Electronics, Inc., our consolidated gross margin
as a percentage of revenues has declined. OSI Electronics, Inc. is a manufacturing services company, an industry where gross margins are traditionally low.
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The following table is intended to illustrate a tabular analysis of certain consolidated statement of income data as a percentage of revenue for the periods
presented.
 

   

Three months
ended

December 31

  

Six months
ended

December 31

 

   

2003

  

2002

  

2003

  

2002

 
Revenue   100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Cost of goods sold   71.4% 66.8% 69.7% 66.0%
Gross profit   28.6% 33.2% 30.3% 34.0%
Selling, general and administrative   16.0% 15.5% 17.5% 16.8%
Research and development   4.6% 5.1% 4.9% 4.7%
Restructuring charge         1.2%   

      
Operating Income   7.9% 12.6% 6.7% 12.5%

      
 
We had $88.8 million in cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities as of December 31, 2003. In addition, we recently re-negotiated our credit agreement
with Bank of the West in order to increase our line of credit from $26 million to $50 million.
 
Results of Operations
 Revenues – Revenues consist of sales of security and inspection products as well as opto-electronic devices and subsystems and medical monitoring and imaging
systems. Revenues for the three months ended December 31, 2003, increased by $7.4 million, or 17%, to $51.1 million from $43.7 million for the comparable
prior year period. For the six months ended December 31, 2003, revenues increased by $8.9 million, or 11%, to $89.7 million from $80.8 million for the
comparable prior year period. Revenues for the three months ended December 31, 2003 from the sale of security and inspection products increased by $1.3
million, or 5%, to $29.0 million from $27.7 million for the comparable prior year period and revenues from the sale of opto-electronic devices and subsystems
and medical monitoring and imaging systems for the three months ended December 31, 2003, increased by $6.1 million, or 38%, to $22.1 million from $16.0
million for the comparable prior year period. For the six months ended December 31, 2003, revenues from the sale of security and inspection products increased
by $0.9 million, or 2%, to $52.7 million from $51.8 million for the comparable prior year period and revenues from the sale of optoelectronic devices and
subsystems and medical monitoring and imaging systems increased by $8.0 million or 28%, to $37.0 million from $29.0 million for the comparable prior year
period.
 
The increase in revenues from the sale of security and inspection products was due to increased sales of x-ray screening machines in the United States and
international markets offset by a decrease in sales to Invision Technologies, Inc. of $4.5 million in the three months ended December 31, 2003 and $10.6 million
for the six months ended December 31, 2003. The increase in revenues from the sale of optoelectronic devices and subsystems and medical monitoring and
imaging systems resulted from the inclusion of revenues from the acquisitions of OSI Defense Systems, LLC, OSI Laserscan and OSI Electronics, Inc. of
approximately $8.0 million for the three months and $8.2 million for the six months ended December 31, 2003 and growth in sales of our medical products, offset
by lower sales from our existing opto-electronics and defense businesses.
 
Gross Profit – Gross profit consists of revenues less cost of goods sold. Cost of goods sold consists of material, labor and manufacturing overhead. Gross profit
increased by $110,000 or 1%, to $14.6 million for the three months ended December 31, 2003 from $14.5 million for the comparable prior year period. As a
percentage of revenues, gross profit decreased in the three months ended December 31, 2003 to 28.6% from 33.2% in the comparable prior year period. For the
six months ended December 31, 2003, gross profit decreased by $0.3 million to $27.2 million from $27.5 million in the comparable prior year period. As a
percentage of revenues, gross profit decreased in the six months ended December 31, 2003 to 30.3% from 34.0% in the comparable prior year period. The
decrease in gross profit as a percentage of
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revenues or gross margin is driven by two primary factors. First, the mix of security and inspection products shifted towards lower margin sales. Second, the gross
margin derived from the products of OSI Electronics, Inc. is significantly lower than that derived from the products of our other businesses, as is consistent with
the characteristics of the manufacturing outsourcing industry in which OSI Electronics, Inc. operates. The inclusion of OSI Electronics, Inc.’s revenues at lower
gross margins reduced our overall gross margin. The decrease in gross margin from the above factors was partially offset by an increase resulting from additional
funding of $775,000 received for a United States government-funded project, for which Ancore Corporation had established a provision for loss prior to our
acquisition of that company.
 
Selling, General and Administrative – Selling, general and administrative expenses consisted primarily of compensation paid to sales, marketing, and
administrative personnel, professional service fees, and marketing expenses. For the three months ended December 31, 2003, such expenses increased by $1.4
million, or 20.9%, to $8.2 million from $6.8 million for the comparable prior year period. For the six months ended December 31, 2003, such expenses increased
by $2.1 million, or 15.5%, to $15.7 million from $13.6 million for the comparable prior year period. As a percentage of revenues, selling, general and
administrative expenses increased in the three months ended December 31, 2003 to 16.0%, from 15.5% in the comparable period last year and increased in the six
months ended December 31, 2003 to 17.5%, from 16.8% in the comparable period last year. The increase in expenses for the three and six months was primarily
due to increased sales and marketing expenses for security and inspection products and medical monitoring and imaging systems. The increase in administrative
expenses for the three months ended December 31, 2003 was due to an increase in headcount and compensation partially offset by a decrease in exchange rate
fluctuation losses and lower legal costs. For the six months ended December 31, 2003, administrative expenses increased from last year due to increases in
headcount, compensation and legal costs, partially offset by lower exchange rate fluctuation losses. Exchange rate fluctuation losses amounted to $33,000 in the
three months ended December 31, 2003 compared to losses of $136,000 in the comparable period last year. For the six months ended December 31, 2003,
exchange rate fluctuation gains amounted to $4,000 compared to losses of $332,000 in the comparable period last year. In addition, the acquisitions of OSI
Defense Systems, LLC, OSI Laserscan and OSI Electronics, Inc. added selling, general and administrative expenses of $710,000 for the three months ended
December 31, 2003, and $737,000 for the six months ended December 31, 2003.
 
Research and Development – Research and development expenses include research related to new product development and product enhancement expenditures.
For the three months ended December 31, 2003, such expenses increased by $158,000, or 7%, to $2.4 million from $2.2 million for the comparable prior year
period. For the six months ended December 31, 2003, such expenses increased by $649,000, or 17%, to $4.4 million from $3.8 million for the comparable prior
year period. As a percentage of revenues, research and development expenses were 4.6% in the three months ended December 31, 2003, compared to 5.1% in the
comparable period last year. For the six months ended December 31, 2003, expenses were 4.9% of revenues compared to 4.7% last year. The increase in research
and development expenses for the three and six month periods ending December 31, 2003 from the comparable periods last year was primarily due to increased
research and development spending for security and inspection products and medical monitoring imaging systems.
 
Restructuring Charges – In the six months ended December 31, 2003, we consolidated manufacturing processes and facilities of certain opto-electronics and
medical businesses. These consolidations resulted in a pre-tax charge of $1.1 million, consisting primarily of write-off of equipment and leasehold improvements
of $993,000 that were retired during the period and charges related to the clean up of a vacated facility of $60,000. We do not expect to incur further costs in
relation to these consolidations. These charges were recorded as restructuring charges in our consolidated financial statements for the three months ended
September 30, 2003. These charges were calculated in accordance with SFAS No. 144, “Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” and SFAS No. 146,
“Accounting for Exit or Disposal Activities”.
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Income from Operations – For the three months ended December 31, 2003, income from operations was $4.0 million compared to $5.5 million for the
comparable prior year period. For the six months ended December 31, 2003, income from operations was $6.0 million compared to $10.1 million for the
comparable prior year period. Income from operations decreased due to lower gross profit margin, increased selling, general and administrative expenses,
research and development expenses and restructuring charges.
 
Interest (Income) Expense – For the three months ended December 31, 2003, we earned interest income of $301,000 compared to $290,000 for the comparable
prior year period. For the six months ended December 31, 2003, we earned interest income of $611,000 compared to $603,000 for the comparable prior year
period. The increase in interest income for the three and six months ended December 31, 2003 was due to the increase in interest earning deposits in the current
year compared to the same periods in the prior year. For the three months ended December 31, 2003, our interest expense was $80,000 compared to $83,000 for
the comparable prior year period. For the six months ended December 31, 2003, our interest expense was $167,000 compared to $222,000 for the comparable
prior year period. The decrease in expense stems primarily from a decrease in borrowings.
 
Impairment of Equity Investment – In July 2002, we purchased from Imagis Technologies, Inc. 1,166,667 shares of its common stock (approximately 6% of its
then-outstanding stock), and 2-year warrants to purchase 291,667 additional shares of its common stock (approximately 1.5% of its then-outstanding stock) at a
price of $1.50 per share, and certain ancillary rights, for an aggregate purchase price of $1.75 million. Imagis Technologies, Inc. develops facial recognition
software for security applications. We have designated the investment as available for sale. The investment is included under other assets in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements. In September 2003, based on the continued trading of Imagis Technologies, Inc. common stock below the original purchase
price for a prolonged period of time, we recognized an other than temporary impairment in the market value of this investment and recognized a pre-tax charge of
$247,000 in our income statement. Through December 31, 2003, we have written down the value of this investment by a cumulative total of $1.7 million.
 
Provision for Income Taxes – Provision for income taxes for the three months ended December 31, 2003 decreased to $1.2 million from $1.3 million last year. For
the six months ended December 31, 2003, provision for income taxes decreased to $1.8 million from $2.9 million last year. As a percentage of income before
provision for income taxes and minority interest, provision for income taxes was 28.7% for the three months ended December 31, 2003, compared to 25.5% for
the comparable period last year, and 29.2% for the six months ended December 31, 2003 unchanged from last year. The increase in the effective income tax rate
for the three months ended December 31, 2003 as compared to the same period last year was due primarily to changes in the mix of income from U.S. and foreign
operations.
 
Net Income – For the reasons outlined above, we had net income of $3.0 million for the three months ended December 31, 2003, compared to $3.8 million for the
three months ended December 31, 2002, and $4.3 million for the six months ended December 31, 2003 compared to $ 7.0 million for the comparable period last
year.
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources
 Cash and equivalents as of December 31, 2003 were $85.4 million, a decrease of $8.9 million from $94.3 million as of June 30, 2003.
 
Our operations provided net cash of $236,000 during the six months ended December 31, 2003. The amount of net cash provided by operations reflects our net
income of $4.3 million adjusted for non-cash expenses relating to depreciation and amortization, restructuring charges and impairment of equity investment, and
changes in operating assets and liabilities net of the effect of business acquisitions. A decrease in accounts receivable through better collections, coupled with an
increase in accounts payable further contributed to the generation of cash. This was partially offset by increases in inventory and
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prepaid expenses and a decrease in accrued payroll and related expenses, advances from customers, accounts payable and other accrued expenses and current
liabilities.
 
Net cash used in investing activities was $8.7 million for the six months ended December 31, 2003. This amount reflects the cash paid for the acquisition of the
assets representing the military laser-based training business of Schwartz Electro-Optics, Inc. of $3.3 million (in addition to $250,000 paid as a deposit in the
three months ended June 30, 2003), the acquisition of a manufacturing services company specializing in surface mount technology lines and PC board assembly
operations for $4.4 million, the acquisition of the remaining assets of Schwartz Electro-Optics, Inc., of $1.6 million, the acquisition of J.D. Engineering (UK)
Limited of $649,000, an investment of $1.1 million in an overseas-based research and development venture focused on security technologies, and the purchase of
$1.1 million of property and equipment. These investments were partially offset by a receipt of $2.0 million from Conmed Corporation. Under the terms of a
Stock Purchase and Sale Agreement Conmed Corporation purchased a 10% interest in our subsidiary, Dolphin Medical, Inc. and an option to purchase all of the
remaining assets and the business of Dolphin Medical, Inc. In addition, under the terms of a distribution agreement, Conmed acquired rights to sell certain
Dolphin Medical, Inc. products in the United States and other territories.
 
Net cash used by financing activities was $529,000 for the six months ended December 31, 2003. This reflects payments on long term debt of $1.3 million
partially offset by proceeds from the exercise of employee stock options.
 
In December 2003, we negotiated an Amended and Restated Credit Agreement with Bank of the West. The agreement provides for a $50 million line of credit,
which includes revolving line, letter of credit, acceptance, and foreign exchange facilities. In addition, we have a $3.1 million balance on an existing term loan
with the same bank. As of December 31, 2003, we had utilized $4.7 million under the letter of credit facility.
 
In March 1999, we announced a program under which we would repurchase up to 2,000,000 shares of our common stock. Through December 31, 2003, we had
repurchased 1,404,500 shares at an average price of $4.37 per share. The stock repurchase program did not have a material effect on our liquidity and is not
expected to have a material effect on liquidity in subsequent quarters.
 
We anticipate that current cash balances, anticipated cash flows from operations and current borrowing arrangements will be sufficient to meet our working
capital, stock repurchase program and capital expenditure needs for the foreseeable future including, if consummated, the acquisition of Spacelabs Medical.
 
Contractual obligations – We have continued to repay our long-term debt and our outstanding balance has decreased to $3.1 million from $4.5 million as of June
30, 2003. Our contractual obligations relating to operating leases of office premises have increased due to the of a manufacturing services company specializing
in surface mount technology lines and PC board assembly operations and the defense and commercial businesses of Schwartz Electro-optics, Inc., partially offset
by lowered lease obligations driven by the consolidation and relocation of certain of our existing businesses. Contractual lease obligations have increased from
the June 30, 2003 level by approximately $4.4 million over the life of the leases, with estimated increases of $0.5 million occurring in the remaining six months
of this fiscal year.
 
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk
 Market Risk – We are exposed to certain market risks that are inherent in our financial instruments and arise from transactions entered into in the normal course of
business. We may enter into derivative financial instrument transactions in order to manage or reduce market risk in connection with specific foreign currency-
denominated transactions. We do not enter into derivative financial instrument transactions for speculative purposes. In addition, our investments in equity
securities are highly concentrated and unhedged, and are therefore subject to potentially significant fluctuations in market
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value resulting from factors such as the financial performance of the issuing companies, changes in the market for the companies’ products, and extrinsic
fluctuations in the overall market for equity securities.
 
Foreign Currency Translation – The accounts of our operations in each of the following countries are maintained in the following currencies: Canada (Canadian
dollars), England (U.K. pounds sterling), Finland (euros), India (Indian rupees), Malaysia (Malaysian ringgits), Norway (Norwegian kroners), and Singapore
(Singapore dollars). We translate foreign currency financial statements into U.S. dollars at current rates, with the exception of revenues, costs and expenses,
which are translated at average rates during the reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from foreign currency transactions are included in income, while
those resulting from translation of financial statements are excluded from income and accumulated as a component of shareholder’s equity. Net foreign currency
transaction gains of approximately $4,000 were included in income for the six months ended December 31, 2003 and losses of approximately $332,000 were
included in the comparable prior year period.
 
Our use of derivatives consists of foreign exchange contracts used to manage foreign exchange risks, along with interest rate swaps on a variable interest rate term
loan used to manage interest rate risks. We purchase foreign exchange contracts to hedge foreign exchange exposure related to commitments to acquire inventory
for sale and do not use the contracts for trading purposes. No foreign exchange contracts were outstanding as of December 31, 2003.
 
Importance of International Markets – International markets provide us with significant growth opportunities. However, the following events, among others,
could adversely affect our financial results in subsequent periods: periodic economic downturns in different regions of the world, changes in trade policies or
tariffs, wars and political instability. In addition, the outbreak of infectious diseases such as the recent outbreak of the SARS virus represent a potential risk to our
ability to complete projects on schedule and to gain new project awards, due to travel constraints to and from the affected areas.
 
For the six months ended December 31, 2003, overall foreign currency fluctuations relative to the U.S. dollar had an immaterial effect on our consolidated
revenues and results of operations. As a result of monetary policies in Malaysia, including the pegging of the Malaysian ringgit to the U.S. dollar, we believe that
our foreign currency exposure in Malaysia will not be significant in the foreseeable future. We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our customers’ financial
condition and, if deemed necessary, we require advance payments for sales. We monitor economic and currency conditions around the world to evaluate whether
there may be any significant effect on our international sales in the future. Due to our overseas investments and the necessity of dealing with local currencies in
our foreign business transactions, we are at risk with respect to foreign currency fluctuations.
 
Interest Rate Risk – We classify all highly liquid investments with purchased maturity of three months or less as cash equivalents and record them in the balance
sheet at cost, which approximates fair value. Short-term investments are comprised of high quality marketable securities. We generally do not use derivatives to
hedge our interest rate risk with the exception of interest rate swaps to convert a portion of our variable-interest-rate debt to a fixed-rate liability.
 
In February 2001 and August 2001, we entered into interest rate swaps. The purpose of the swaps was to convert a portion of our variable interest rate debt into a
fixed rate liability. The notional amount of the swaps was $2.9 million at December 31, 2003, and $4.2 million at June 30, 2003. The fair value of the swaps
before income taxes was ($18,000) at December 31, 2003 and ($90,000) at June 30, 2003. The change in the fair value from the previously reported period is
recorded in other comprehensive income (loss), due to the swaps meeting the criteria of an effective cash flow hedge. The swaps expire in June 2004.
 
Inflation – We do not believe that inflation has had a material impact on our December 31, 2003 results of operations.
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Item 4. Controls and Procedures
 Disclosure Controls and Procedures
 As of December 31, 2003, the end of the period covered by this report, our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer reviewed and evaluated the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)). Such disclosure controls and procedures are
designed to ensure that material information we must disclose in this report is recorded, processed, summarized, and filed or submitted on a timely basis. They
have concluded, based on their evaluation, that as of such date, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective to ensure that information required to be
disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to them as appropriate to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosure.
 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
 There have been no significant changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
during the fiscal quarter to which this report relates that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial
reporting.
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PART II OTHER INFORMATION
 
Item 1. Legal Proceedings
 In November 2002, L-3 Communications Corporation (“L-3”) brought suit against us for a declaratory judgment that L-3 had not breached its obligations under
an amended letter of intent concerning the parties’ joint acquisition of Perkin Elmer, Inc.’s Securities Detection System Business. In February 2003, we answered
and asserted counterclaims against L-3 for, among other things, fraud, breach of fiduciary duty, breach of contract and failure to negotiate in good faith. In March
2003, L-3 amended its complaint and asserted claims against us for breach of contract, failure to negotiate in good faith, and tortious interference. In its amended
complaint, L-3 requested both a declaratory judgment that it had fulfilled its obligations under the amended letter of intent and an award of damages for an
unspecified amount. Subsequently, L-3 moved to dismiss all of our counterclaims. On January 6, 2004, L-3’s motion to dismiss our counterclaims was granted in
part and denied in part. In its ruling, the court upheld the adequacy of our allegations against L-3 for fraud, constructive fraud, negligent misrepresentation, breach
of fiduciary duty, imposition of constructive trust, and breach of contract for failure to negotiate in good faith. Discovery in the case is proceeding. These actions
are pending in the District Court for the Southern District of New York.
 
We are also involved in various other claims and legal proceedings arising out of the conduct of our business. In our opinion after consultation with outside legal
counsel, the ultimate disposition of such proceedings will not have a material adverse effect on our financial position, future results of operations, or cash flows.
 
Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders
 We held our Annual Meeting on November 5, 2003. During the Annual Meeting, the following actions were taken:
 
 1. Election of Directors
 

Name

  

For

  

Withheld

Deepak Chopra   10,153,684  2,777,646
Ajay Mehra   10,157,802  2,773,528
Steven C. Good   12,811,614  119,716
Meyer Luskin   12,807,927  123,403
Madan G. Syal   10,179,243  2,752,087
Chand R. Viswanathan   12,804,849  126,481

 
 2. Ratification of Deloitte & Touche LLP as independent auditors for the year ending June 30, 2004.
 

For   12,620,338   
Against   303,587   
Abstain   7,405   
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Item 6. Exhibits and Reports on Form 8-K
 (a) Exhibits
 

10.20   Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of December 1, 2003, by and between Bank of the West and OSI Systems, Inc.

31.1    Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2    Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1    Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2    Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
 
(b) Reports on Form 8-K.
 We filed a current report on Form 8-K on January 7, 2004 announcing the signing of a definitive agreement to purchase Spacelabs Medical, a manufacturer

and distributor of patient monitoring systems.
 We filed a current report on Form 8-K on January 22, 2004 announcing the acquisition of Advance Research & Applications Corp., a developer and

manufacturer of x-ray test and inspection systems.
 We filed a current report on Form 8-K on February 3, 2004 in connection with the dissemination of an earnings release.
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Signatures
 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Hawthorne, State of California on the 13th day of February 2004.
 

OSI SYSTEMS, INC.

By:  /s/    DEEPAK CHOPRA        

  
 

 
Deepak Chopra

President and Chief Executive Officer

By:  /s/    ANUJ WADHAWAN        

  
 

 
Anuj Wadhawan

Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 10.20
 

AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT
 

THIS AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is made and dated as of the first day of December 2003, by and among
BANK OF THE WEST (“BOW”), as the sole initial lender party hereto and the other lenders from time to time party hereto (each of BOW and such other
lenders, being referred to herein individually as a “Lender” and, collectively, as the “Lenders”), BOW, as agent for the Lenders (in such capacity, the “Agent”),
BOW, as the issuer of letters of credit hereunder (in such capacity, the “L/C Issuing Bank”) and as the institution through which foreign currencies may be bought
and sold hereunder (in such capacity, the “FX Lender”), and OSI SYSTEMS, INC., a California corporation (the “Company”).
 

RECITALS
 

A. BOW has previously extended to the Company certain credit facilities (the “Existing Credit Facilities”) pursuant to that certain Credit Agreement dated
as of February 27, 2001 by and between BOW and the Company (as amended to date, the “Existing Credit Agreement”).
 

B. The Company and BOW have agreed to amend and restate the Existing Credit Agreement and the documents, instruments, and agreements delivered in
connection therewith in their entirety and the Company has agreed that BOW, in its sole discretion, may syndicate the credit facilities under this Agreement at no
additional fee to the Company.
 

C. The Company, the Agent, the L/C Issuing Bank, the FX Lender, BOW as the sole initial Lender, and the other Lenders from time to time party hereto
desire to enter into this Agreement to evidence the willingness of the Lenders to provide such credit facilities and of the Agent and the L/C Issuing Bank to act in
such capacities hereunder, and to set forth the rights and obligations of the parties with respect to such credit extensions.
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the above Recitals and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which are hereby
acknowledged, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows:
 

AGREEMENT
 

1. Revolving Credit Facility.
 1(a) Credit Amount. On the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein, the Lenders severally agree that they shall from time to time to but
not including the Revolving Loan Maturity Date (as that term and capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein are defined in Paragraph 15 below), make
revolving loans (the “Revolving Loans” or a “Revolving Loan”) to the Company, pro rata in accordance with their respective Percentage Shares, in an aggregate
amount not to exceed at any one time outstanding the lesser of:
 (1) The Revolving Facility Credit Limit; and
 

(2) The Aggregate Credit Limit minus the sum of the aggregate amount of: (i) all Outstanding Letters of Credit and unpaid L/C Drawings on
such date, plus (ii) the aggregate amount of FX Risk Liability on such date.
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1(b) Principal Repayment. The Company shall pay the principal amount of each Revolving Loan on the Revolving Loan Maturity Date. Principal
amounts prepaid hereunder may be reborrowed on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in Paragraph 8(b) below, it being expressly acknowledged and
agreed that the credit facility provided under this Paragraph 1 is a revolving facility.
 

1(c) Payment of Interest. Interest on Revolving Loans shall be payable as provided in Paragraphs 5(b) and 5(d) below.
 

1(d) Use of Proceeds. The proceeds of Revolving Loans shall be used for working capital and general corporate needs.
 

2. Foreign Exchange Facility.
 2(a) Credit Limit. On the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein, the FX Lender agrees that the Company and/or the Guarantors may
form time to time from the Effective Date to but not including the Foreign Exchange Facility Maturity Date, request the FX Lender to enter into FX Transactions;
provided, however, that in no event shall the aggregate amount of FX Risk Liability at any date exceed the lesser of:
 (1) The FX Limit; and
 

(2) The Aggregate Credit Limit minus the sum of: (i) the aggregate amount of all Outstanding Letters of Credit and unpaid L/C Drawings on
such date; plus (ii) the aggregate amount of all Revolving Loans outstanding on such date.
 

2(b) Requests for FX Transactions. Each request for a FX Transaction shall be made no later than 3:00 p.m. (Los Angeles time) on the Business Day
on which such FX Transaction in being requested by delivery to the FX Lender of a duly executed FX Application, with a copy to the Agent, accompanied by all
other documents, instruments, and agreements which the FX Lender may reasonably require as a condition to the requested action.
 

2(c) Tenor. No FX Transaction shall have a Settlement Date later than the earlier of: (1) 365 days following the date of entry into such FX
Transaction, and (2) the regularly scheduled Foreign Exchange Facility Maturity Date.
 

2(d) Availability. The FX Lender may refuse to enter into a FX Transaction with the Company or any Guarantor where the FX Lender, at its sole
discretion, determines that: (1) the requested Foreign Currency is unavailable, (2) the FX Lender is not then dealing in the requested Foreign Currency, or (3) the
FX Lender would be prohibited by any applicable law, rule, regulation, or order from purchasing such Foreign Currency.
 

2(e) Payment. Payment with respect to each FX Transaction is due on the Settlement Date of such FX Transaction. The Agent is hereby authorized
by the Company to charge the full settlement price of any FX Transaction against any depository account or accounts maintained by the Company with the Agent
on the Settlement Date. Subject the availability restrictions set forth in Paragraph 1(a) above, in the event that the Company fails to pay or cause to pay the
settlement price of any FX Transaction on the Settlement Date therefor or the balances in the depository account or accounts maintained with the Agent are
insufficient to pay such settlement price, without limiting the rights of the Agent, the FX Lender, or any Lender hereunder or waiving any Event of Default caused
thereby, the Agent may, and the Company hereby authorizes the Agent to, request a Revolving Loan be made in an amount equal to the settlement price of such
FX Transaction on the Settlement Date.
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2(f) Impossibility of Performance. In the event that the Company, any Guarantor, or the FX Lender cannot perform under a FX Transaction due to
force majeure or an act of any Governmental Authority or it becomes unlawful or impossible to perform, all in the good faith judgment of the Company or the FX
Lender, then upon notice to the other party, the Company or the FX Lender may require the close-out and liquidation of the affected FX Transaction in accordance
with the provisions of this Agreement.
 

2(g) Allocation of FX Risk Liability. Upon the entering into each FX Transaction by the Company or any Guarantor and the FX Lender, the Lenders
shall be automatically deemed to have purchased an undivided participation interest therein and in all rights and obligations relating thereto, pro rata in
accordance with their respective Percentage Shares. The Lenders hereby absolutely and unconditionally (including, without limitation, following the occurrence
of an Event of Default) agree to purchase and sell among themselves the settlement amount of any FX Transaction which is not paid on the date when due by the
Company so that all unrepaid losses with respect to FX Transactions shall be held and participated in by the Lenders in accordance with their respective
Percentage Shares.
 

2(h) Obligation of Company. The Company hereby acknowledges and agrees that any FX Risk Liability and any other obligations incurred by any
Guarantor with respect to any FX Transaction requested by any Guarantor or entered into by any Guarantor and the FX Lender shall be Obligations of the
Company hereunder.
 

3. Letter of Credit Facility.
 3(a) Credit Limit. On the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein, the L/C Issuing Bank shall from time to time from and after the
Effective Date up to the Revolving Facility Maturity Date, issue standby letters of credit for the account of the Company (each a “Letter of Credit” and,
collectively, the “Letters of Credit”); provided, however, that in no event shall the L/C Issuing Bank issue any Letter of Credit hereunder if after giving effect to
such issuance, the aggregate dollar amount of all Outstanding Letters of Credit (including all Outstanding Pre-Existing Letters of Credit) and unrepaid L/C
Drawings would exceed the Aggregate Credit Limit minus the sum of: (i) the aggregate amount of all Revolving Loans outstanding on such date; plus (ii) the
aggregate amount of FX Risk Liability on such date.
 

3(b) Issuance of Letters of Credit. Unless otherwise approved by the L/C Issuing Bank, each Letter of Credit, and any amendment, renewal or
extension thereof, shall be requested by the Company at least three (3) Business Days prior to the proposed issuance, amendment, renewal or extension date by
delivery to the L/C Issuing Bank of a duly executed Letter of Credit Application, with a copy to the Agent, accompanied by all other L/C Documents which the
L/C Issuing Bank may require as a condition to the requested action. No Letter of Credit shall have a stated expiration date (or provide for the extension of such
stated expiration date or the issuance of any replacement therefor) later than 365 days following the regularly scheduled Revolving Loan Maturity Date; provided,
however that as an additional condition precedent to the issuance of any Letter of Credit with a stated expiration date later than the Revolving Loan Maturity Date
(as determined as of the date of issuance of such Letter of Credit), no later than 90 days prior to the Revolving Loan Maturity Date, the Company shall deposit a
dollar amount equal to the face amount of such Letter of Credit into a no-access account with the Agent (the “Letter of Credit Cash Collateral Account”). The
Company hereby pledges, assigns and grants to the Agent on behalf of the Lenders a security interest in the Letter of Credit Cash Collateral Account, any
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and all funds from time to time contained therein, and all products and proceeds of the foregoing. At such time the Obligations with respect to any Letter of Credit
for which the Company is required to cash collateralize in accordance with this Paragraph 3(b) shall have been fully satisfied or otherwise terminated, the Agent
shall release its Lien on the portion of the funds contained in the Letter of Credit Cash Collateral Account attributable to such Letter of Credit and remit such
funds to the Company.
 

3(c) Repayment of L/C Drawings. Any L/C Drawing under a Letter of Credit shall be payable in full by the Company on the date of such L/C
Drawing.
 

3(d) Purchase of Participation Interests; Risk Sharing. Upon the issuance of each Letter of Credit (and upon the deemed issuance hereunder of the
Pre-Existing Letters of Credit), the Lenders shall be automatically deemed to have purchased an undivided participation interest therein and in all rights and
obligations relating thereto, pro rata in accordance with their respective Percentage Shares. The Lenders hereby absolutely and unconditionally (including,
without limitation, following the occurrence of an Event of Default) agree to purchase and sell among themselves the dollar amount of any L/C Drawing which is
not paid on the date when due by the Company so that each unrepaid L/C Drawing shall be held and participated in by the Lenders in accordance with their
respective Percentage Shares.
 

3(e) Absolute Obligation to Repay. The Company’s obligation to repay L/C Drawings shall be absolute, irrevocable and unconditional under any and
all circumstances whatsoever and irrespective of any set-off, counterclaim or defense to payment which the Company may have or have had, against any Lender
or any other Person, including, without limitation, any set-off, counterclaim or defense based upon or arising out of:
 (1) Any lack of validity or enforceability of this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents;
 (2) Any amendment or waiver of or any consent to departure from the terms of any Letter of Credit;
 (3) The existence of any claim, setoff, defense or other right which the Company or any other Person may have at any time against any

beneficiary or any transferee of any Letter of Credit (or any Person for whom any such beneficiary or any such transferee may be acting);
 (4) Any allegation that any demand, statement or any other document presented under any Letter of Credit is forged, fraudulent, invalid or

insufficient in any respect, or that any statement therein is untrue or inaccurate in any respect whatsoever or that variations in punctuation, capitalization,
spelling or format were contained in the drafts or any statements presented in connection with any L/C Drawing;

 (5) Any payment by the L/C Issuing Bank under any Letter of Credit against presentation of a draft or certificate that does not strictly comply
with the terms of such Letter of Credit, or any payment made by the L/C Issuing Bank under any Letter of Credit to any Person purporting to be a trustee in
bankruptcy, debtor-in-possession, assignee for the benefit of creditors, liquidator, receiver or other representative of or successor to any beneficiary or any
transferee of any Letter of Credit, including any arising in connection with any insolvency proceeding;
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(6) Any exchange, release or non-perfection of any Collateral; or
 (7) Any other circumstance or happening whatsoever, whether or not similar to any of the foregoing, including any other circumstance that

might otherwise constitute a defense available to, or a discharge of the Company.
 
Nothing contained herein shall constitute a waiver of the Company’s rights against the L/C Issuing Bank arising out of the gross negligence or willful misconduct
of the L/C Issuing Bank in connection with any Letter of Credit issued hereunder; provided, however, that it is expressly acknowledged and agreed by the
Company that the exercise of any such rights is subject to and conditioned upon the prior payment in full of all Obligations, including, without limitation,
unrepaid L/C Drawings, and the termination of the credit facility evidenced hereby.
 

3(f) Uniform Customs and Practice. The Uniform Customs and Practice for Documentary Credits as published by the International Chamber of
Commerce most recently at the time of issuance of any Letter of Credit shall (unless otherwise expressly provided in such Letter of Credit) apply to such Letter of
Credit.
 

3(g) Relationship to Letter of Credit Applications. In the event of any inconsistency between the terms and provisions of this Agreement and the
terms and provisions of any Letter of Credit Application, the terms and provisions of this Agreement shall supersede and govern.
 

3(h) Use of Letters of Credit. The Letters of Credit may be requested by the Company on its own behalf or on behalf of any of the Guarantors. The
Letters of Credit shall be used to support the working capital and general corporate needs of the Company and the Guarantors.
 

3(i) Pre-Existing Letters of Credit. There are currently outstanding under the Existing Credit Agreement those letters of credit described on Annex 1
attached hereto issued by BOW (the “Pre-Existing Letters of Credit”). Effective as of the Effective Date, the Pre-Existing Letters of Credit shall automatically be
deemed to be “Letters of Credit” issued hereunder for all purposes of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents, including, without limitations, the
determination of availability of additional Letters of Credit pursuant to Paragraph 3(a) above and the availability of Revolving Loans and FX Risk Liability
pursuant to Paragraphs 1(a) and 2 above, respectively.
 

4. Term Loan.
 4(a) Term Loan; Principal Repayment. Under the Existing Credit Facilities, BOW advanced to the Company a term loan the remaining principal
balance of which as of the Effective Date is $3,330,078.35 (the “Term Loan”). On the Effective Date, the Lenders shall advance to the Agent their respective
Percentage Shares of the remaining principal balance of the Term Loan, to be remitted to BOW. The principal amount of the Term Loan shall be payable in
fourteen (14) consecutive monthly installments of $218,750.00, said installments to be payable on the last Business Day of each calendar month, with one final
payment in an amount equal to the remaining principal balance of the Term Loan to be payable on December 31, 2004.
 

4(b) Payment of Interest. Interest on the Term Loan shall be payable as provided in Paragraphs 5(b) and 5(d) below.
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5. Requests for and Funding of Loans; Pricing Provisions.
 5(a) Requests for and Funding of Loans.
 (1) If the Company desires to borrow Revolving Loans, the Company shall deliver a Loan Request to the Agent, no later than: (i) in the case of

Revolving Loans to be funded as Reference Rate Loans, 12:00 p.m. (Los Angeles time) on the proposed funding date, and (ii) in the case of Revolving
Loans to be funded as LIBO Rate Loans, 12:00 p.m. (Los Angeles time) on the third LIBOR Business Day preceding the proposed funding date.

 (2) The principal amount of each LIBO Rate Loan (including Reference Rate Loans which are converted into LIBO Rate Loans) shall be in the
minimum amount of $100,000 and whole multiples of $100,000 in excess thereof.

 (3) All Loan Requests shall be irrevocable and shall be delivered in writing (which may be by facsimile transmission) or, but only with the
prior agreement of the Agent, telephonically, with any Loan Request delivered telephonically to be promptly confirmed in writing (which may be by
facsimile transmission). Upon receipt of a Loan Request, the Agent shall notify each of the Lenders of the receipt of such Loan Request by facsimile
transmission no later than 2:00 p.m. (Los Angeles time) on the date received.

 (4) The Lenders shall make available their applicable Percentage Shares of each proposed Revolving Loan by crediting the amount thereof, in
immediately available same day funds, to the Funding Account no later than 10:30 a.m. (Los Angeles time) on the funding date.

 (5) The failure of any Lender to advance its Percentage Share of any Revolving Loan shall not relieve any other Lender of its obligation
hereunder to advance its Percentage Share of the principal amount thereof, but no Lender shall be responsible for the failure of any other Lender to make its
required advance.

 
5(b) Applicable Interest Rates. The Company shall pay interest on all Loans outstanding hereunder from the date disbursed to but not including the

date of payment, at a rate per annum equal to, at the option of and as selected by the Company from time to time (subject to the provisions of Paragraphs 5(c) and
5(e) below):
 (1) The daily average Applicable Reference Rate during the applicable computation period; or
 (2) The Applicable LIBO Rate for the selected Interest Period therefor.
 

5(c) Conversion and Continuation Options.
 (1) The Company may elect from time to time to convert Loans outstanding (or portions thereof): (i) as LIBO Rate Loans to Reference Rate

Loans by giving the Agent irrevocable notice of such election no later than 9:00 a.m. (Los Angeles time) on the last day of the Interest Period for such
LIBO Rate Loan, and (ii) as Reference Rate Loans to LIBO Rate Loans by giving the Agent irrevocable notice of such election no later than 12:00 noon
(Los Angeles time) on the third (3rd) LIBOR Business Day preceding the proposed conversion date. Any conversion of LIBO Rate
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Loans may only be made on the last day of the applicable Interest Period. No Reference Rate Loan may be converted into a LIBO Rate Loan if an Event of
Default or Potential Default has occurred and is continuing at the requested conversion date. All or any part of outstanding Loans may be converted as
provided herein, provided that partial conversions shall be in an amount not less than the amount required pursuant to Paragraph 5(a)(2) above.

 (2) The Company may elect from time to time to have any LIBO Rate Loan continued as such upon the expiration of the Interest Period
applicable thereto by giving the Agent irrevocable notice of such election no later than 12:00 noon (Los Angeles time) on the third (3rd) LIBOR Business
Day preceding the last day of such Interest Period; provided, however, that no LIBO Rate Loan may be continued as such when any Event of Default or
Potential Default has occurred and is continuing, but shall be automatically converted to a Reference Rate Loan on the last day of the Interest Period
applicable thereto. If the Company shall fail to give notice of its election to continue a LIBO Rate Loan as such as provided above, the Company shall be
deemed to have elected to convert the affected LIBO Rate Loan to a Reference Rate Loan on the last day of the applicable Interest Period.

 (3) Each request for the conversion or continuation of a Loan (or portion thereof) shall be evidenced by the timely delivery by the Company to
the Agent of a duly executed Loan Request (which delivery may be by facsimile transmission) or, but only with the prior agreement of the Agent,
telephonically, with any Loan Request delivered telephonically to be promptly confirmed in writing (which may be by facsimile transmission).

 
5(d) Interest Billing and Payment Requirements.

 (1) Interest accruing on Loans (or portions thereof) which are Reference Rate Loans shall be payable monthly, in arrears, for each month on the
last Business Day of such month in the amount set forth in an interest billing for such Reference Rate Loans delivered by the Agent to the Company (which
delivery may be telephonic and later confirmed in writing).

 (2) Interest accruing on LIBO Rate Loans shall be payable, in arrears, on the last day of the applicable Interest Period therefor, or in the case of
LIBO Rate Loans with Interest Periods ending later than three months from the date funded, at the end of each three month period from the date funded and
at the end of the applicable Interest Period therefor.

 
5(e) Illegality. Notwithstanding any other provisions herein, if any law, regulation, treaty or directive or any change therein or in the interpretation or

application thereof, shall make it unlawful for any Lender to make or maintain LIBO Rate Loans as contemplated by this Agreement: (1) the commitment of such
Lender hereunder to make or to continue LIBO Rate Loans or to convert Reference Rate Loans to LIBO Rate Loans shall forthwith be canceled and (2) such
Lender’s Percentage Share of Loans then outstanding as LIBO Rate Loans, if any, shall be converted automatically to Reference Rate Loans at the end of their
respective Interest Periods or within such earlier period as may be required by law. In the event of a conversion of any LIBO Rate Loan prior to the end of its
applicable Interest Period, the Company hereby agrees promptly to pay any Lender affected thereby, upon demand, the amounts required pursuant to Paragraph
5(h) below, it being agreed and understood that such conversion shall constitute a prepayment for all purposes hereof. The provisions hereof shall survive the
termination of this Agreement and payment of all outstanding Loans, unrepaid L/C Drawings and all other Obligations.
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5(f) Requirements of Law; Increased Costs. In the event that any applicable law, order, regulation, treaty or directive issued by any central bank or
other governmental authority, agency or instrumentality or in the governmental or judicial interpretation or application thereof, or compliance by any Lender with
any request or directive (whether or not having the force of law) issued by any central bank or other governmental authority, agency or instrumentality:
 (1) Does or shall subject any Lender to any tax of any kind whatsoever with respect to this Agreement or any Loan made or Letter of Credit

issued or FX Transaction entered into hereunder, or change the basis of taxation of payments to such Lender of principal, fee, interest or any other amount
payable hereunder (except for change in the rate of tax on the overall net income of such Lender);

 (2) Does or shall impose, modify or hold applicable any reserve, capital requirement, special deposit, compulsory loan or similar requirements
against assets held by, or deposits or other liabilities in or for the account of, advances or loans by, or other credit extended by, or any other acquisition of
funds by, any office of such Lender which are not otherwise included in the determination of interest payable on the Obligations; or

 (3) Does or shall impose on such Lender any other condition;
 
and the result of any of the foregoing is to increase the cost to such Lender of making, renewing or maintaining any Loan, or issuing, renewing or maintaining any
Letter of Credit, or entering into, renewing or maintaining any FX Transaction, or to reduce any amount receivable in respect thereof or the rate of return on the
capital of such Lender or any corporation controlling such Lender, then, in any such case, the Company shall promptly pay to such Lender, upon its written
demand made through the Agent, any additional amounts necessary to compensate such Lender for such additional cost or reduced amounts receivable or rate of
return as determined by such Lender with respect to this Agreement, or Loans made, Letters of Credit issued, or FX Transactions entered into hereunder. If a
Lender becomes entitled to claim any additional amounts pursuant to this Paragraph 5(f), it shall promptly notify the Company of the event by reason of which it
has become so entitled. A certificate as to any additional amounts payable pursuant to the foregoing sentence containing the calculation thereof in reasonable
detail submitted by a Lender to the Company shall be conclusive in the absence of manifest error. The provisions hereof shall survive the termination of this
Agreement and payment of all outstanding Loans, unrepaid L/C Drawings and all other Obligations.
 

5(g) Funding. Each Lender shall be entitled to fund all or any portion of the Loans in any manner it may determine in its sole discretion, including,
without limitation, the London inter-bank market and within the United States.
 

5(h) Prepayment Premium. In addition to all other payment obligations hereunder, in the event: (1) if any LIBO Rate Loan is prepaid prior to the last
day of the applicable Interest Period, whether following the occurrence of an Event of Default or otherwise, or (2) the Company shall fail to continue or to make a
conversion to a LIBO Rate Loan after the Company has given notice thereof as provided in Paragraph 5(c) above, then the Company shall immediately pay to the
Lenders holding the Loans prepaid or not made, continued or converted, through the Agent, an additional premium sum compensating each Lender for losses,
costs and expenses incurred by such Lender in connection with
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such prepayment or such failure to borrow, continue or convert. The Company acknowledges that such losses, costs and expenses are difficult to quantify and
that, in the case of the prepayment of or failure to continue or convert to a LIBO Rate Loan, the following formula represents a fair and reasonable estimate of
such losses, costs and expenses:
 
Amount
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Being Not
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or
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360

 
For purposes of calculating the current LIBO Rate for the days remaining in the Interest Period for the increment being prepaid or not converted or continued,
such current LIBO Rate shall be an interest rate interpolated between LIBO Rates quoted for standard calendar periods for subsequent months’ maturities in
accordance with normal conventions. A certificate as to any additional amounts payable pursuant to the foregoing sentence containing the calculation thereof in
reasonable detail submitted by a Lender to the Company shall be conclusive in the absence of manifest error. The provisions hereof shall survive the termination
of this Agreement and payment of all outstanding Loans and unrepaid L/C Drawings and all other Obligations.
 

5(i) Default Interest. At the option of the Agent on behalf of the Lenders, notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, on any date that
there shall have occurred and be continuing an Event of Default, any and all Obligations outstanding shall bear interest at a per annum rate equal to two percent
(2%) in excess of the highest rate applicable to Loans then outstanding under this Agreement, or, if such Obligations do not otherwise bear interest, at a per
annum rate equal to two percent (2%) in excess of the Reference Rate.
 

5(j) Fees. The Company shall pay the following fees:
 (1) Letter of Credit Fees.
 (i) To the Agent for the pro rata benefit of the Lenders in accordance with their respective Percentage Shares:
 (y) On or before the date of issuance by the L/C Issuing Bank of a Letter of Credit, a non-refundable issuance fee in an

amount equal to the Applicable L/C Fee Percentage multiplied by the face amount of such Letter of Credit for the effective term of such Letter of
Credit; and

 (z) Such renewal, increase and extension fees relating to any Letter of Credit as are customarily charged by the L/C Issuing
Bank to its customers from time to time.
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(ii) Directly to the L/C Issuing Bank, from time to time upon demand, such fees and charges, including, without limitation,
miscellaneous charges and transfer fees, relating to the Letters of Credit as the L/C Issuing Bank customarily charges with respect to similar letters of credit
issued by it.

 (2) FX Facility Fees. Directly to the FX Lender, from time to time upon demand, such fees and charges, including, without limitation,
miscellaneous charges and transfer fees, relating to the FX Transactions as the FX Lender customarily charges with respect to similar transactions.

 (3) Facility Fee. To the Agent for the pro rata benefit of the Lenders in accordance with their respective Percentage Shares, on or before the
Effective Date, a one time non-refundable facility fee of $85,000.00.

 (4) Unused Fee. To the Agent for the pro rata benefit of the Lenders in accordance with their respective Percentage Shares, on the last Business
Day of each calendar quarter and on the Revolving Loan Maturity Date, a non-usage fee for such calendar quarter (or portion thereof) in the amount set
forth in a fee billing delivered by the Agent to the Company, which non-usage fee shall equal: (i) the average Aggregate Credit Limit in effect during such
calendar quarter (or portion thereof), minus the daily average amount of Revolving Loans, Outstanding Letters of Credit, and FX Risk Liability during such
calendar quarter (or portion thereof) multiplied by (ii) the product of: (y) one eighth of one percent (0.125%), and (z) a fraction, the numerator of which is
the number of days in the applicable calculation period and the denominator of which is 365.

 
5(k) Computations. All computations of interest and fees payable hereunder shall be based upon a year of three hundred and sixty (360) days for the

actual number of days elapsed.
 

6. Miscellaneous Provisions.
 6(a) Open Book Account. The obligation of the Company to repay the Loans, L/C Drawings, and settlement prices with respect to the FX
Transactions shall be evidenced by notations on the books and records of the Agent and each Lender. The Agent shall deliver a statement of account to the
Company and each Lender monthly setting forth the unpaid balance of Loans, L/C Drawings, and settlement prices outstanding hereunder. Such statement shall
(absent clerical error) be deemed conclusively correct and accepted by the Company and the Lenders unless any of such Persons notifies the Agent to the contrary
within thirty (30) Business Days following delivery of such statement. Upon any advance, conversion or prepayment with respect to any Loan, each Lender is
hereby authorized to record the date and amount of each such advance and conversion made by such Lender, or the date and amount of each such payment or
prepayment of principal of the Loan made by such Lender, the applicable Interest Period (if any) and interest rate with respect thereto, on its books (or by any
analogous method any Lender may elect consistent with its customary practices) and any such recordation shall constitute prima facie evidence of the accuracy of
the information so recorded absent manifest error. The failure of the Agent or any Lender to make any such notation shall not affect in any manner or to any
extent the Company’s Obligations hereunder.
 

6(b) Nature and Place of Payments. All payments made on account of the Obligations shall be made by the Company to the Agent for the account of
the Lenders or the L/C Issuing Bank, as applicable, without setoff or counterclaim, in lawful money of the United States of America in immediately available
same day funds, free and clear of and without deduction for any taxes, fees or
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other charges of any nature whatsoever imposed by any taxing authority and must be received by the Agent by 2:00 p.m. (Los Angeles time) on the day of
payment, it being expressly agreed and understood that if a payment is received after 2:00 p.m. (Los Angeles time) by the Agent, such payment will be considered
to have been made by the Company on the next succeeding Business Day and interest thereon shall be payable by the Company at the then applicable rate during
such extension. All payments on account of the Obligations shall be made to the Agent through its Contact Office. If any payment required to be made by the
Company hereunder becomes due and payable on a day other than a Business Day, the due date thereof shall be extended to the next succeeding Business Day
and interest thereon shall be payable at the then applicable rate during such extension. The Agent is hereby irrevocably authorized by the Company to debit the
general operating account of the Company, if any, maintained with the Agent for the full amount of monthly and periodic interest billings, fees and other
Obligations payable hereunder; provided, however, that the failure of the Agent to so debit such account shall not in any manner or to any extent affect the
obligation of the Company to pay such Obligations as provided herein and in the other Loan Documents.
 

6(c) Prepayments.
 (1) The Company may prepay Reference Rate Loans in whole or in part at any time, it being acknowledged and agreed that LIBO Rate Loans

may not be voluntarily prepaid prior to the last day of their applicable Interest Periods.
 (2) Revolving Loans are subject to mandatory prepayment by the Company upon demand of the Agent on any date upon which the sum of: (i)

the aggregate principal balance of Revolving Loans, plus (ii) the aggregate FX Risk Liability, plus (iii) the dollar amount of all Outstanding Letters of
Credit, plus (iv) the dollar amount unrepaid L/C Drawings, exceeds the Revolving Credit Limit.

 (3) Prepayments with respect to the Term Loan shall be applied to remaining principal payments in inverse order of maturity.
 (4) The Company shall pay in connection with any prepayment hereunder all interest accrued but unpaid on Loans to which such prepayment

is applied, and all prepayment premiums, if any, on LIBO Rate Loans to which such prepayment is applied, concurrently with payment to the Agent of any
principal amounts.

 
6(d) Allocation of Payments Received. Prior to the occurrence of an Event of Default and acceleration of the Obligations, all amounts received by

the Agent on account of the Loans shall be applied against Loans in such order as the Company may direct in writing, subject to the requirement that
disbursements to the Lenders shall be in accordance with their respective Percentage Shares. Such amounts shall be disbursed by the Agent to the Lenders pro
rata in accordance with their respective Percentage Shares by wire transfer on the date of receipt if received by the Agent before 10:00 a.m. (Los Angeles time) or
if received later, by 12:00 noon (Los Angeles time) on the next succeeding Business Day, without further interest payable by the Agent. Following the occurrence
of an Event of Default and acceleration of the Obligations, all amounts received by the Agent on account of the Obligations shall be disbursed by the Agent as
follows:
 (1) First, to the payment of reasonable expenses incurred by the Agent in the performance of its duties and enforcement of its rights under the

Loan Documents, including, without limitation, all costs and expenses of collection, attorneys’ fees, court costs and foreclosure expenses;
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(2) Then, to the Lenders, pro rata in accordance with their respective Percentage Shares, until all outstanding Loans and unrepaid L/C
Drawings and interest accrued thereon have been paid in full, said amounts to be allocated first to interest and then, but only after all accrued interest has
been paid in full, to principal of Loans and unrepaid L/C Drawings;

 (3) Then, to the Lenders on account of all other outstanding Obligations,
 (4) Then, and if but only if there remain Outstanding any Letters of Credit or Foreign Exchange Contracts, to the Agent to hold as cash

collateral for the obligation of the Company to reimburse future L/C Drawings and FX Risk Liability as the same may occur, until there are no further
Outstanding Letters of Credit or Foreign Exchange Contracts, with the Agent hereby irrevocably authorized by the Company to debit from time to time the
amounts so held and to apply the same on account of such L/C Drawings or FX Risk Liability, as applicable; and

 (5) Then, to such Persons as may be legally entitled thereto.
 

6(e) Telephonic/Facsimile Communications. Any agreement of the Agent and the Lenders herein to receive certain notices by telephone or facsimile
is solely for the convenience and at the request of the Company. The Agent and the Lenders shall be entitled to rely on the authority of any Person purporting to
be an authorized Person and the Agent and the Lenders shall not have any liability to the Company or other Person on account of any action taken or not taken by
the Agent or the Lenders in reliance upon such telephonic or facsimile notice. The obligation of the Company to repay the Loans or any unpaid L/C Drawings
shall not be affected in any way or to any extent by any failure by the Agent and the Lenders to receive written confirmation of any telephonic or facsimile notice
or the receipt by the Agent and the Lenders of a confirmation which is at variance with the terms understood by the Agent and the Lenders to be contained in the
telephonic or facsimile notice.
 

7. Security and Additional Credit Support.
 7(a) Collateral Security. As collateral security for the Obligations, on or before the Effective Date the Company shall execute and deliver, or cause to
be executed and delivered, to the Agent each of the following: (1) a security agreement in the form of that attached hereto as Exhibit A (as amended, extended
and replaced from time to time, the “Security Agreement”) pursuant to which the Company shall grant to the Agent for the benefit of the Lenders a perfected
security interest in the Collateral of the Company with a priority acceptable to the Agent, and (2) such UCC-1 financing statements, notices to and consents of
third parties, landlord and mortgagee waivers the property access agreements and such additional and supplemental security agreements, including, without
limitation, supplemental security agreements covering Collateral consisting of federally registered trademarks, copyrights and patents for filing with the Patent
and Trademark Office or the U.S. Copyright Office, as the Agent may require (the “Additional Collateral Documents”).
 

7(b) Guaranties; Guarantor Security Agreements. As additional credit and collateral support for the Obligations, on or before the Effective Date the
Company shall cause each of the Guarantors to execute and deliver to the Agent for the benefit of the Lenders: (1) a credit guaranty in the form of that attached
hereto as Exhibit B (each as amended, extended and replaced from time to time, a “Guaranty”), (2) a security agreement in the form of that attached hereto as
Exhibit C (as amended, extended and replaced from time to time, the “Guarantor Security Agreement”) pursuant to which such
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Guarantor shall grant to the Agent for the benefit of the Lenders a perfected security interest in the Collateral of such Guarantor with a priority acceptable to the
Agent, and (3) such UCC-1 financing statements, notices to and consents of third parties, landlord and mortgagee waivers the property access agreements and
such additional and supplemental security agreements, including, without limitation, such Additional Collateral Documents as the Agent may require.
 

7(c) Additional Documents. The Company agrees to execute and deliver and to cause to be executed and delivered to the Agent from time to time
following the Effective Date such additional documents, instruments and agreements as are in the Agent’s judgment necessary or desirable to obtain for the Agent
on behalf of the Lenders the benefit of Collateral and the Loan Documents.
 

8. Conditions to Credit Events.
 8(a) First Credit Event. As conditions precedent to the first Credit Event hereunder:
 (1) The Company shall have delivered or shall have had delivered to the Agent, in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent and its counsel,

each of the following (with sufficient copies for each of the Lenders) and duly executed and certified as required:
 (i) This Agreement;
 (ii) The Security Agreement;
 (iii) A Guaranty and Guarantor Security Agreement from each of the Guarantors;
 (iv) The Additional Collateral Documents requested of the Company and the Guarantors by the Agent;
 (v) UCC searches showing the filing and priority of all UCC filings made on behalf of the Agent for the benefit of the Lenders hereunder

subject only to the security interests in and liens acceptable to the Agent in its sole and absolute discretion;
 (vi) Certified copies of resolutions of the Board of Directors of the Company and each of the Guarantors approving the execution and

delivery of the Loan Documents to which such Person is party, the performance of the Obligations and the consummation of the transactions
contemplated by the Loan Documents;

 (vii) A certificate of the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of the Company and each of the Guarantors certifying the names and true
signatures of the officers of such Person authorized to execute and deliver the Loan Documents to which such Person is party;

 (viii) A copy of the Certificate or Articles of Incorporation of the Company and each of the Guarantors, certified by the Secretary of
State of the State in which such Person is incorporated as of a recent date;
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(ix) A copy of the Certificate or Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws of the Company and each of the Guarantors, certified by the
Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of such Person as of the date of this Agreement as being accurate and complete;

 (x) Certificates of good standing as of a recent date for the Company and each of the Guarantors from the Secretaries of State of
California and each State in which such Person is incorporated or does business;

 (xi) A certificate of a Responsible Financial Officer of the Company in the form of that attached hereto as Exhibit D dated as of the
Effective Date;

 (xii) Such UCC financing statements as are necessary to terminate all financing statements filed on behalf of BOW, as secured party,
under the Existing Credit Agreement, accompanied by evidence satisfactory to the Agent and the Lenders that all Indebtedness of the Company
secured by Liens on assets of the Company under the Existing Credit Agreement (other than the Pre-Existing Letters of Credit which will become
Outstanding Letters of Credit hereunder on the Effective Date) will be paid in full and the credit facility evidencing such Indebtedness terminated on
or before the Effective Date;

 (xiii) Such opinions of counsel to the Company and the Guarantors as the Agent may request; and
 (xiv) A Compliance Certificate demonstrating in detail satisfactory to the Agent that the Company was in compliance with the financial

covenants set forth in Paragraph 11(i) below at and as of September 30, 2003.
 

(2) All acts and conditions (including, without limitation, the obtaining of any necessary regulatory approvals and the making of any required
filings, recordings or registrations) required to be done and performed and to have happened precedent to the execution, delivery and performance of the
Loan Documents and to constitute the same legal, valid and binding obligations, enforceable in accordance with their respective terms, shall have been
done and performed and shall have happened in due and strict compliance with all applicable laws.

 (3) All documentation, including, without limitation, documentation for corporate and legal proceedings in connection with the transactions
contemplated by the Loan Documents shall be satisfactory in form and substance to the Agent and its counsel.

 
If the Effective Date shall not have occurred and the first Credit Event consummated on or before December 9, 2003 as a result of the failure of the conditions
precedent thereto set forth above to have been met to the satisfaction of the Agent or otherwise, then this Credit Agreement and any right of the Company to
receive credit hereunder shall automatically terminate and be of no further force or effect.
 

8(b) All Credit Events. As conditions precedent to each Lender’s obligation to make any Revolving Loan, including the first Revolving Loan and
including the conversion of any Revolving Loan to another type of Revolving Loan or the continuation of any LIBO Rate Loan after the end of its applicable
Interest Period, of the L/C Issuing Bank to issue, amend, renew or extend any Letter of Credit, or of the FX Lender to enter into any FX Transaction with the
Company, at and as of the date of such action:
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(1) There shall have been delivered to the Agent a Loan Request, a Letter of Credit Application and any required L/C Documents, or FX
Application therefor, as applicable;

 (2) The representations and warranties contained in the Loan Documents shall be accurate and complete in all material respects as if made on
and as of the date of such advance, conversion, continuance or issuance or, with respect to any representation made as of a specific date, shall have been
accurate and complete as of such date;

 (3) There shall not have occurred an Event of Default or Potential Default; and
 (4) After giving effect to such Credit Event the Company shall be in compliance with the limitations of Paragraphs 1(a), 2(a), and 3(a) above.
 
By delivering a Loan Request, Letter of Credit Application, or FX Application hereunder, the Company shall be deemed to have represented and warranted the
accuracy and completeness of the statements set forth in subparagraphs (b)(2) through (b)(4) above, as applicable.
 

9. Representations and Warranties of the Company. As an inducement to the Agent and each Lender to enter into this Agreement, the Company represents
and warrants to the Agent and each Lender that:
 9(a) Financial Condition. The financial statements, dated the Statement Date and the Interim Date, copies of which have heretofore been furnished to
each Lender by the Agent, are complete and correct and present fairly in accordance with GAAP the financial condition of the Company and its consolidated
Subsidiaries at such dates and the consolidated and consolidating results of their operations and changes in financial position for the fiscal periods then ended.
 

9(b) No Change. Since the Statement Date no Material Adverse Effect has occurred. Except as expressly disclosed in writing to the Agent and the
Lenders prior to the Effective Date, from the Statement Date through the Effective Date, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has entered into,
incurred or assumed any material long-term debt, mortgages, leases or oral or written commitments, nor commenced any significant project, nor made any
purchase or acquisition of any significant property.
 

9(c) Corporate Existence; Compliance with Law. The Company and each of its Subsidiaries: (1) is duly organized, validly existing and in good
standing as a corporation under the laws of the jurisdiction of its organization and is qualified to do business in each jurisdiction where its ownership of property
or conduct of business requires such qualification and where failure to qualify is reasonably likely to have a Material Adverse Effect, (2) has the corporate power
and authority and the legal right to own and operate its property and to conduct business in the manner in which it does and proposes so to do, and (3) is in
compliance with all Requirements of Law and Contractual Obligations, the failure to comply with which could have a Material Adverse Effect.
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9(d) Corporate Power; Authorization; Enforceable Obligations. The Company and each of its Subsidiaries has the corporate power and authority and
the legal right to execute, deliver and perform the Loan Documents to which it is a party and has taken all necessary corporate action to authorize the execution,
delivery and performance of such Loan Documents. The Loan Documents to which the Company and each of its Subsidiaries is party have been duly executed
and delivered on behalf of such Person and constitute legal, valid and binding obligations of such Person enforceable against such Person in accordance with their
respective terms, subject to the effect of applicable bankruptcy and other similar laws affecting the rights of creditors generally and the effect of equitable
principles whether applied in an action at law or a suit in equity.
 

9(e) No Legal Bar. The execution, delivery and performance of the Loan Documents to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is party, the
borrowing hereunder and the use of the proceeds thereof, will not violate any Requirement of Law or any Contractual Obligation of the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries the violation of which could have a Material Adverse Effect or create or result in the creation of any Lien on any assets of the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries (other than any Lien created by the Security Documents).
 

9(f) No Material Litigation. Except as disclosed on Schedule 9(f) attached hereto, no litigation, investigation or proceeding of or before any
arbitrator, court or Governmental Authority is pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened by or against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or
against any of such parties’ properties or revenues which is likely to be adversely determined and which, if adversely determined, is likely to have a Material
Adverse Effect.
 

9(g) Taxes. The Company and each of its Subsidiaries have filed or caused to be filed all tax returns that are required to be filed and have paid all
taxes shown to be due and payable on said returns or on any assessments made against them or any of their property other than taxes which are being contested in
good faith by appropriate proceedings and as to which the Company or applicable Subsidiary has established adequate reserves in conformity with GAAP.
 

9(h) Investment Company Act. The Company is not an “investment company” or a company “controlled” by an “investment company” within the
meaning of the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended.
 

9(i) Subsidiaries. Attached hereto as Schedule 9(i) is an accurate and complete list of the Subsidiaries, their respective jurisdictions of incorporation
and the percentage of their capital stock owned by the Company or other Subsidiaries. All of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of such
Subsidiaries have been duly authorized and issued and are fully paid and non-assessable.
 

9(j) Federal Reserve Board Regulations. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is engaged or will engage, principally or as one of its
important activities, in the business of extending credit for the purpose of “purchasing” or “carrying” any “margin stock” within the respective meanings of such
terms under Regulation U. No part of the proceeds of any Revolving Loan will be used for “purchasing” or “carrying” “margin stock” as so defined or for any
purpose which violates, or which would be inconsistent with, the provisions of the Regulations of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System.
 

9(k) ERISA. The Company and each of its Subsidiaries are in compliance in all respects with the requirements of ERISA and no Reportable Event
has occurred under any Plan maintained by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries which is likely to result in the termination of such Plan for purposes of Title IV
of ERISA.
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9(l) Assets. The Company and each of its Subsidiaries has good and marketable title to all property and assets reflected in the financial statements
dated the Statement Date referred to in Paragraph 9(a) above, except property and assets sold or otherwise disposed of in compliance with Paragraph 11(g) below
subsequent to the Statement Date. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has outstanding Liens on any of its properties or assets nor are there any
security agreements to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party, or title retention agreements, whether in the form of leases or otherwise, of any
personal property except as reflected in the financial statements referred to in Paragraph 9(a) above or as permitted under Paragraph 11(a) below.
 

9(m) Securities Acts. The Company has not issued any unregistered securities in violation of the registration requirements of Section 5 of the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or any other law, and is not violating any rule, regulation or requirement under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the
Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. The Company is not required to qualify an indenture under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, in
connection with its execution and delivery of the Loan Documents.
 

9(n) Consents, Etc. No consent, approval, authorization of, or registration, declaration or filing with any Governmental Authority or any other Person
is required on the part of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries in connection with the execution and delivery of the Loan Documents or the performance of or
compliance with the terms, provisions and conditions hereof or thereof other than such as have been obtained prior to the Effective Date.
 

9(o) Copyrights, Patents, Trademarks and Licenses, etc. The Company owns or is licensed or otherwise has the right to use all of the patents,
trademarks, service marks, trade names, copyrights, contractual franchises, authorizations and other rights that are reasonably necessary for the operation of its
business, without conflict with the rights of any other Person. To the best knowledge of the Company, no slogan or other advertising device, product, process,
method, substance, part or other material now employed, or now contemplated to be employed, by the Company infringes upon any rights held by any other
Person. Except as specifically disclosed in Schedule 9(f) hereto, no claim or litigation regarding any of the foregoing is pending or, to the knowledge of the
Company, threatened, and, to the knowledge of the Company, no patent, invention, device, application, principle or any statute, law, rule, regulation, standard or
code is pending or proposed, which, in either case, could, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
 

9(p) Hazardous Materials. To the best of its knowledge, the operations of the Company comply substantially, and during the term of this Agreement
will at all times comply substantially, in all respects with all applicable Environmental Laws; the Company has obtained licenses, permits, authorizations and
registrations required under applicable Environmental Law (“Environmental Permits”) and necessary for its ordinary operations, all such Environmental Permits
are in good standing, and the Company is in compliance with all material terms and conditions of such Environmental Permits; neither the Company nor any of
its present properties or operations are subject to any outstanding written order from or agreement with any Governmental Authority nor subject to any judicial or
docketed administrative proceeding, respecting any Environmental Law, Environmental Claim or Hazardous Material not previously disclosed; there are no
Hazardous Materials or other conditions or circumstances existing, or arising from operations prior to the date of this Agreement, with respect to any property of
the Company that would reasonably be expected to give rise to Environmental Claims; provided, however, that with respect to property leased from an unrelated
third party, the foregoing representation is made to the best knowledge of the Company. In addition, to the best of its knowledge: (1) the Company does not have
or maintain any underground storage tanks which are not properly registered or permitted under applicable Environmental Laws or which are leaking or disposing
of Hazardous
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Materials off-site, and (2) the Company has notified all of its employees of the existence, if any, of any health hazard arising from the conditions of their
employment and have met all notification requirements under Title III of CERCLA and all other applicable Environmental Laws.
 

9(q) Regulated Entities. The Company is not subject to regulation under the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, the Federal Power Act,
the Interstate Commerce Act, any state public utilities code, or any other Federal or state statute or regulation limiting its ability to incur Indebtedness.
 

10. Affirmative Covenants. The Company hereby covenants and agrees with the Agent and each Lender that, as long as any Obligations remain unpaid, any
Letter of Credit is Outstanding, any Lender has any obligation to make Revolving Loans, the L/C Issuing Bank has any obligation to issue Letters of Credit, or the
FX Lender to enter into any FX Transaction hereunder, the Company shall:
 10(a) Financial Statements and Reports. Furnish or cause to be furnished to the Agent and to each of the Lenders directly:
 (1) Within one hundred five (105) days after the last day of each fiscal year of the Company, audited consolidated statements of income and

statements of changes in financial position for such year and balance sheets as of the end of such year presented fairly in accordance with GAAP and
accompanied by an unqualified opinion of a nationally recognized firm of independent certified public accountants reasonably acceptable to the Agent; and

 (2) Within fifty (50) days after the last day of each calendar quarter, Company-prepared statements of income and changes in financial position
of the Company on a consolidated basis for such quarter and balance sheets as of the end of such quarter presented fairly in accordance with GAAP;

 (3) Concurrently with the delivery of each of the financial statements delivered pursuant to subparagraphs (1) and (2) above: (i) a certificate of
a Responsible Financial Officer of the Company, stating that such financial statements are presented fairly in accordance with GAAP, confirming as of the
last day of such fiscal period the continuing accuracy and completeness of all representations and warranties of the Company set forth in the Loan
Documents or, with respect to any representation and warranty made as of a specific date, the accuracy and completeness as of such date, and that there
does not exist a Potential Default or an Event of Default hereunder, and (ii) a Compliance Certificate dated as of the date of such financial statements;

 
10(b) Other Information. Promptly furnish or cause to be furnished to the Agent (with the Agent providing the same to each of the Lenders) such

additional financial and other information, including, without limitation, financial statements of the Company and the Guarantors as the Agent or any Lender
(through the Agent) may from time to time reasonably request, including, without limitation, such information as is necessary to enable any Lender to participate
out any of its interests in the Revolving Loans and other Obligations hereunder or to enable other financial institutions to become signatories hereto.
 

10(c) Payment of Indebtedness. Itself, and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to, pay, discharge or otherwise satisfy at or before maturity or before it
becomes delinquent, defaulted or accelerated, as the case may be, all its Indebtedness (including taxes), except Indebtedness being contested in good faith and for
which provision is made to the satisfaction of the Agent for the payment thereof in the event the Company or such Subsidiary is found to be obligated to pay such
Indebtedness and which Indebtedness is thereupon promptly paid by the Company or such Subsidiary.
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10(d) Maintenance of Existence and Properties. Itself, and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to, maintain its corporate existence and maintain all
rights, privileges, licenses, approvals, franchises, properties and assets necessary or desirable in the normal conduct of its business, and comply with all
Contractual Obligations and Requirements of Law the failure to comply with which could have a Material Adverse Effect on the business, operations, assets or
financial or other condition of the Company or the Company and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole.
 

10(e) Inspection of Property; Books and Records; Discussions. Itself, and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to, keep proper books of record and
account in which full, true and correct entries in conformity with GAAP and all Requirements of Law the failure to comply with which could have a Material
Adverse Effect on the business, operations, assets or financial or other condition of the Company or the Company and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole shall be
made of all dealings and transactions in relation to its business and activities, and permit representatives of the Agent or any Lender to visit and inspect any of its
properties and examine and make abstracts from any of its books and records at any reasonable time and as often as may reasonably be desired by the Agent or
any Lender and to discuss the business, operations, properties and financial and other condition of the Company and any of its Subsidiaries with officers and
employees of such parties, and with their independent certified public accountants.
 

10(f) Notices. Promptly give written notice to the Agent (with the Agent providing the same to each of the Lenders) of:
 (1) The occurrence of any Potential Default or Event of Default;
 (2) Any litigation or proceeding in which the Company or any its Subsidiaries is the defendant or in which the Company or any its Subsidiaries

is otherwise at financial risk involving amounts in excess of $10,000,000.00 in the aggregate; and
 (3) Any other event constituting a material adverse change in the business, operations, property or financial or other condition of the Company

or the Company and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole.
 

10(g) Expenses. Pay all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses (including fees and disbursements of counsel): (1) of the Agent incident to the
preparation, negotiation and administration of the Loan Documents and the protection of the rights of the Lenders and the Agent under the Loan Documents, and
(2) of the Agent and, following the occurrence of an Event of Default, each of the Lenders incident to the enforcement of payment of the Obligations, whether by
judicial proceedings or otherwise, including, without limitation, in connection with bankruptcy, insolvency, liquidation, reorganization, moratorium or other
similar proceedings involving the Company or a “workout” of the Obligations. The obligations of the Company under this Paragraph 10(g) shall be effective and
enforceable whether or not any Revolving Loan is funded or any Letter of Credit is issued or hereunder and shall survive payment of all other Obligations.
 

10(h) Loan Documents. Comply with and observe all terms and conditions of the Loan Documents.
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10(i) Insurance. Obtain and maintain insurance with responsible companies in such amounts and against such risks as are usually carried by
corporations engaged in similar businesses similarly situated, and furnish any of the Lenders on request (made through the Agent) full information as to all such
insurance.
 

10(j) Hazardous Materials. Itself, and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to:
 (1) Conduct its operations and keep and maintain all its Properties in compliance with all applicable Environmental Laws.
 (2) Give prompt written notice to the Agent, but in no event later than ten days after becoming aware thereof, of the following: (i) any

enforcement, cleanup, removal or other governmental or regulatory actions instituted, completed or threatened against the Company or any of its Affiliates
or any of their respective properties pursuant to any applicable Environmental Laws, (ii) all other Environmental Claims, and (iii) any environmental or
similar condition on any real property adjoining or in the vicinity of the property of the Company or its Affiliates that could reasonably be anticipated to
cause such property or any part thereof to be subject to any restrictions on the ownership, occupancy, transferability or use of such property under any
Environmental Laws.

 (3) Upon the written request of the Agent, submit to the Agent, at the Company’s sole cost and expense, at reasonable intervals, a report
providing an update of the status of any environmental, health or safety compliance, hazard or liability issue identified in any notice required pursuant to
this section.

 (4) At all times indemnify and hold harmless the Agent and the Lenders from and against all liability arising out of any Environmental Claims,
except those Environmental Claims caused as a primary and direct result of the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the Agent or any of the Lenders.

 
10(k) ERISA. Furnish to the Agent:

 (1) Promptly and in any event within thirty (30) days after the Company knows or has reason to know of the occurrence of a Reportable Event
with respect to a Plan with regard to which notice must be provided to the PBGC, a copy of such materials required to be filed with the PBGC with respect
to such Reportable Event and in each such case a statement of a Responsible Financial Officer of the Company setting forth details as to such Reportable
Event and the action which the Company proposes to take with respect thereto;

 (2) Promptly and in any event within thirty (30) days after the Company knows or has reason to know of any condition existing with respect to
a Plan which presents a material risk of termination of the Plan, imposition of an excise tax, requirement to provide security to the Plan or incurrence of
other liability by the Company or any ERISA Affiliate, a statement of a Responsible Financial Officer of the Company describing such condition;

 (3) At least ten (10) days prior to the filing by an plan administrator of a Plan of a notice of intent to terminate such Plan, a copy of such notice;
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(4) Promptly and in no event more than thirty (30) days after the filing thereof with the Secretary of the Treasury, a copy of any application by
the Company or an ERISA Affiliate for a waiver of the minimum funding standard under Section 412 of the Code;

 (5) Promptly and in any event within thirty (30) days after the Company knows or has reason to know of any event or condition which might
constitute grounds under section 4042 of ERISA for the termination of, or the appointment of a trustee to administer, any Plan, a statement of a Responsible
Financial Officer of the Company describing such event or condition;

 (6) Promptly and in no event more than thirty (30) days after receipt thereof by the Company or any ERISA Affiliate, a copy of each notice
received by the Company or an ERISA Affiliate concerning the imposition of any withdrawal liability under section 4202 of ERISA; and

 (7) Promptly after receipt thereof a copy of any notice the Company or any ERISA Affiliate may receive from the PBGC or the Internal
Revenue Service with respect to any Plan or Multiemployer Plan; provided, however, that this subparagraph (7) shall not apply to notices of general
application promulgated by the PBGC or the Internal Revenue Service.

 
10(l) Compliance with Laws. Itself, and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to, comply, in all material respects with all Requirements of Law and

Contractual Obligations the failure to comply with which could have a Material Adverse Effect on the business, operations, assets or financial or other condition
of the Company or the Company and its consolidated Subsidiaries taken as a whole.
 

11. Negative Covenants. The Company hereby covenants and agrees with the Agent and each Lender that, as long as any Obligations remain unpaid, any
Letter of Credit is Outstanding, any Lender has any obligation to make Revolving Loans, the L/C Issuing Bank has any obligation to issue Letters of Credit, or the
FX Lender to enter into any FX Transaction hereunder, the Company shall not, directly or indirectly:
 

11(a) Liens. And shall not permit any Subsidiary to, create, incur, assume or suffer to exist any Lien upon any of its property and assets except:
 (1) Liens or charges for current taxes, assessments or other governmental charges which are not delinquent or which remain payable without

penalty, or the validity of which are contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings upon stay of execution of the enforcement thereof, provided the
Company or such Subsidiary, as applicable, shall have set aside on its books and shall maintain adequate reserves for the payment of same in conformity
with GAAP;

 (2) Liens, deposits or pledges made to secure statutory obligations, surety or appeal bonds, or bonds to obtain, or to obtain the release of,
attachments, writs of garnishment or for stay of execution, or to secure the performance of bids, tenders, contracts (other than for the payment of borrowed
money), leases or for purposes of like general nature in the ordinary course of the business of the Company or such Subsidiary;

 
21



(3) Purchase money security interests for property hereafter acquired, conditional sale agreements, or other title retention agreements, with
respect to property hereafter acquired; provided, however, that no such security interest or agreement shall extend to any property other than the property
acquired;

 (4) Statutory Liens of landlord’s, carriers, warehousemen, mechanics, materialmen and other similar Liens imposed by law and created in the
ordinary course of business for amounts not yet due or which are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and with respect to which
adequate reserves are being maintained in conformity with GAAP;

 (5) Attachment and judgment Liens not otherwise constituting an Event of Default any of which Liens are in existence less than thirty (30)
days after the entry thereof or with respect to which execution has been stayed, payment is covered in full by insurance, or the Company or such Subsidiary
shall in good faith be prosecuting an appeal or proceedings for review and shall have set aside on its books such reserves as may be required by GAAP with
respect to such judgment or award; and

 (6) Liens securing Indebtedness in amount not to exceed $10,000,000.00 incurred during the course of any single fiscal year of the Company.
 

11(b) Indebtedness. And shall not permit any Subsidiary to, create, incur, assume or suffer to exist, or otherwise become or be liable in respect of any
Indebtedness except:
 (1) The Obligations;
 (2) Indebtedness reflected in the financial statements referred to in Paragraph 9(a) above (other than Indebtedness under the Existing Credit

Agreement which, except for the Pre-Existing Letter of Credit will be paid in full and the credit facility evidenced thereby cancelled on the Effective Date);
 (3) Trade debt incurred in the ordinary course of business;
 (4) Indebtedness secured by Liens permitted under Paragraph 11(a) above; and
 (5) Indebtedness in amount not to exceed $10,000,000.00 incurred during the course of any single fiscal year of the Company.
 

11(c) Merger, Etc.. And shall not permit any Subsidiary to, dissolve, merge or consolidate with any Person or permit any Person to merger into it,
except that:
 (1) Any Subsidiary of the Company may merge into or consolidate with the Company so long as the surviving Person is the Company;
 (2) Any Subsidiary of the Company organized in the United States of America may merge into or consolidate with a Subsidiary of the

Company organized in the United States of America, so long as the surviving person is a wholly-owned Subsidiary of the Company organized in the United
States of America; and
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(3) Any Subsidiary of the Company organized outside of the United States of America may merge into or consolidate with a Subsidiary of the
Company organized outside of the United States of America, so long as the surviving person is a wholly-owned Subsidiary of the Company organized
outside of the United States of America;

 
provided, however, that as a condition precedent to any transaction set forth in subparagraphs (1) through (3) above, the Company shall have delivered in writing
to the Agent evidence satisfactory to the Agent that both before and immediately after giving effect to such transaction there shall not exist any Event of Default
or Potential Default on a pro forma basis.
 

11(d) Acquisitions. And shall not permit any Subsidiary to, purchase or acquire or incur liability for the purchase or acquisition of any or all of the
assets or business of any Person other than acquisitions of any or all of the assets or business of any Person in the same or similar line of business to the Company
and its Subsidiaries so long as the aggregate amount of such acquisitions does not exceed $15,000,000.00 during any single fiscal year of the Company; provided,
however, that any such acquisition in excess of $10,000,000.00 shall be pre-approved in writing by the Agent; and provided further, however, that as a condition
precedent to any acquisition permitted by this Paragraph 11(d), the Company shall have delivered in writing to the Agent evidence satisfactory to the Agent that
both before and immediately after giving effect to such transaction there shall not exist any Event of Default or Potential Default on a pro forma basis.
 

11(e) Payment of Dividends. Declare or pay any dividends upon its shares of stock now or hereafter outstanding or make any distribution of assets to
its stockholders as such, whether in cash, property or securities.
 

11(f) Purchase or Retirement of Stock. Acquire, purchase, redeem or retire any shares of its capital stock now or hereafter outstanding unless at the
date thereof there does not exist an Event of Default or Potential Default and the aggregate value of shares of the capital stock of the Company acquired,
purchased, redeemed, or retired by the Company during the then current fiscal year is not in excess of $15,000,000.00.
 

11(g) Sale of Assets. And shall not permit any Subsidiary to, sell, lease, assign, transfer or otherwise dispose of any of its assets (other than obsolete
or worn out property), whether now owned or hereafter acquired, other than sales of inventory in the ordinary course of business as presently conducted and at
fair market value.
 

11(h) Capital Expenditures. And shall not permit any Subsidiary to, make or commit to make Capital Expenditures in excess of $10,000,000.00 in
the aggregate for the Company and all Subsidiaries during any fiscal year.
 

11(i) Financial Covenants.
 (1) Permit the Company’s consolidated Effective Tangible Net Worth as of any date to be less than $120,000,000.00.
 (2) Permit the Company’s consolidated Effective Tangible Net Worth for any fiscal year of the Company to increase by less than seventy five

percent (75%) of the Company’s net profit for such fiscal year.
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(3) Permit as of the end of any fiscal quarter, the Company’s ratio of Funded Debt to EBITDA on a consolidated basis, as of the end of such
fiscal quarter and the immediately preceding three fiscal quarters, to be greater than 2.50:1.00.

 (4) Permit as of any date the Company’s ratio of consolidated current assets to consolidated current liabilities, determined in accordance with
GAAP, to be less than 1.25:1.00.

 (5) Permit as of the end of any fiscal quarter, the Company’s net profit after taxes for such fiscal quarter determined in accordance with GAAP,
to be less than $1.00.

 (6) Permit as of any date the aggregate value of cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities of the Company held by the Agent to be less
than $20,000,000.00.

 (7) Permit as of the end of any fiscal quarter, the ratio of: (i) the consolidated EBITDA of the Company for such fiscal quarter and the
immediately preceding three fiscal quarters, to (ii) interest expense, determined in accordance with GAAP plus the consolidated current portion of long
term debt plus the current portion of capitalized leases determined in accordance with the Company’s balance sheet for such fiscal quarter and the
immediately preceding three fiscal quarters, to be less than 1.50:1.00.

 (8) Permit as of any date, intangibles shown on the Company’s balance sheet to exceed the total of intangibles shown on the Company’s
balance sheet as of the fiscal year ended June 30, 2003 plus $35,000,000.00.

 
12. Events of Default. Upon the occurrence of any of the following events (an “Event of Default”):

 12(a) The Company shall fail to pay any principal on the Revolving Loans, any L/C Drawing, or pay the settlement price with respect to any FX
Transaction on the date when due, or fail to pay within five days of the date when due any other Obligation under the Loan Documents; or
 

12(b) Any representation or warranty made by the Company in any Loan Document shall be inaccurate or incomplete in any material respect on or
as of the date made; or
 

12(c) The Company shall fail to maintain its corporate existence or shall default in the observance or performance of any covenant or agreement
contained in Paragraph 11 above; or
 

12(d) The Company shall fail to observe or perform any other term or provision contained in the Loan Documents and such failure shall continue for
thirty (30) days; or
 

12(e) (1) The Company or any of its Subsidiaries shall default in any payment of principal of or interest on any Indebtedness (other than the
Obligations), or (2) any Person shall default in the payment of any Indebtedness upon which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is contingently liable, or (3)
any other event shall occur, the effect of which is to permit such Indebtedness to be declared or otherwise to become due prior to its stated maturity; or
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12(f) (1) The Company, any of its Subsidiaries, or any Guarantor shall commence any case, proceeding or other action (i) under any existing or
future law of any jurisdiction, domestic or foreign, relating to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or relief of debtors, seeking to have an order for relief
entered with respect to it, or seeking to adjudicate it a bankrupt or insolvent, or seeking reorganization, arrangement, adjustment, winding-up, liquidation,
dissolution, composition or other relief with respect to it or its debts, or (ii) seeking appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian or other similar official for it or
for all or any substantial part of its assets, or the Company, any of its Subsidiaries, or any Guarantor shall make a general assignment for the benefit of its
creditors; or (2) there shall be commenced against the Company, any of its Subsidiaries, or any Guarantor, any case, proceeding or other action of a nature
referred to in clause (1) above which (i) results in the entry of an order for relief or any such adjudication or appointment, or (ii) remains undismissed,
undischarged or unbonded for a period of thirty (30) days; or (3) there shall be commenced against the Company, any of its Subsidiaries, or any Guarantor, any
case, proceeding or other action seeking issuance of a warrant of attachment, execution, distraint or similar process against all or substantially all of its assets
which results in the entry of an order for any such relief which shall not have been vacated, discharged, stayed, satisfied or bonded pending appeal within sixty
(60) days from the entry thereof; or (4) the Company, any of its Subsidiaries, or any Guarantor, shall take any action in furtherance of, or indicating its consent to,
approval of, or acquiescence in (other than in connection with a final settlement), any of the acts set forth in clause (1), (2) or (3) above; or (5) the Company, any
of its Subsidiaries, or any Guarantor, shall generally not, or shall be unable to, or shall admit in writing its inability to pay its debts as they become due; or
 

12(g) (1) Any Person shall engage in any “prohibited transaction” (as defined in Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code) involving any
Plan, (2) any “accumulated funding deficiency” (as defined in Section 302 of ERISA), whether or nor waived, shall exist with respect to any Plan, (3) a
Reportable Event shall occur with respect to, or proceedings shall commence to have a trustee appointed, or a trustee shall be appointed, to administer or to
terminate, any Single Employer Plan, which Reportable Event or institution of proceedings is, in the reasonable opinion of the Agent, likely to result in the
termination of such Plan for purposes of Title IV of ERISA, and, in the case of a Reportable Event, the continuance of such Reportable Event unremedied for ten
days after notice of such Reportable Event pursuant to Section 4043(a), (c) or (d) of ERISA is given or the continuance of such proceedings for ten days after
commencement thereof, as the case may be, (4) any Single Employer Plan shall terminate for purposes of Title IV of ERISA, (5) any withdrawal liability to a
Multiemployer Plan shall be incurred by the Company or (6) any other event or condition shall occur or exist; and in each case in clauses (1) through (6) above,
such event or condition, together with all other such events or conditions, if any, is likely to subject the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to any tax, penalty or
other liabilities in the aggregate material in relation to the business, operations, property or financial or other condition of the Company or the Company and its
Subsidiaries taken as a whole; or
 

12(h) One or more judgments or decrees shall be entered against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries and such judgments or decrees shall not
have been vacated, discharged, stayed, satisfied or bonded pending appeal within thirty (30) days from the entry thereof; or
 

12(i) Any Guarantor shall fail to observe or perform any provision of any Loan Document to which it is a party or shall attempt to rescind or revoke
any Loan Document to which it is a party, with respect to future transactions or otherwise, or any representation or warranty set forth any Loan Document to
which any Guarantor is party shall be inaccurate or incomplete in any material respect as of the date made;
 
THEN, automatically upon the occurrence of an Event of Default under Paragraph 12(f) above, at the option of any Lender upon the occurrence of an Event of
Default under Paragraph 12(a) above and, in all
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other cases, at the option of the Majority Lenders, each Lender’s obligation to make Revolving Loans, the L/C Issuing Bank’s obligation to issue Letters of
Credit, and the FX Lender’s obligation to enter into FX Transactions with the Company hereunder shall terminate and the principal balance of outstanding
Revolving Loans and interest accrued but unpaid thereon, the aggregate contingent liability of the Company to reimburse the L/C Issuing Bank and the Lenders
for future L/C Drawings with respect to Outstanding Letters of Credit, the aggregate contingent liability of the Company to make any payment with respect to any
FX Risk Liability, and all other Obligations shall become immediately due and payable, without demand upon or presentment to the Company, which are
expressly waived by the Company and the Agent and the Lenders may immediately exercise all rights, powers and remedies available to them at law, in equity or
otherwise. All amounts paid by the Company on account of the aggregate contingent liability of the Company under Outstanding Letters of Credit and
outstanding FX Transactions shall be held by the Agent as collateral security for the benefit of the L/C Issuing Bank, the FX Lender, and the Lenders until there
are no Letters of Credit Outstanding, all unrepaid L/C Drawings have been paid in full with interest thereon as provided herein, and all FX Transactions have
matured and any outstanding settlement prices with respect to FX Transactions have been paid in full, the Company hereby being automatically deemed to have
granted to the Agent, the L/C Issuing Bank, the FX Lender and the Lenders a first priority, perfected security interest in all such monies and to have authorized
the Agent to debit such monies in satisfaction of the obligation of the Company to repay L/C Drawings and settlement prices with respect to FX Transactions;
provided, that, nothing contained herein shall in any manner or to any extent affect the liability of the Company with respect to L/C Drawings or FX Transactions
in the event for whatever reason the Agent does not so debit such monies on account thereof.
 

13. The Agent.
 13(a) Appointment. Each Lender hereby irrevocably designates and appoints the Agent as the agent of such Lender under the Loan Documents and
each such Lender hereby irrevocably authorizes the Agent, as the agent for such Lender, to take such action on its behalf under the provisions of the Loan
Documents and to exercise such powers and perform such duties as are expressly delegated to the Agent by the terms of the Loan Documents, together with such
other powers as are reasonably incidental thereto. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary elsewhere in the Loan Documents, the Agent shall not have any
duties or responsibilities, except those expressly set forth herein or therein, or any fiduciary relationship with any Lender, and no implied covenants, functions,
responsibilities, duties, obligations or liabilities shall be read into the Loan Documents or otherwise exist against the Agent. The Company shall pay to the Agent
an agency fee in such amount and at such times as the Agent and the Company may from time to time agree in writing.
 

13(b) Delegation of Duties. The Agent may execute any of its duties under the Loan Documents by or through agents or attorneys-in-fact and shall
be entitled to advice of counsel concerning all matters pertaining to such duties. The Agent shall not be responsible for the negligence or misconduct of any
agents or attorneys-in-fact selected by it with reasonable care.
 

13(c) Exculpatory Provisions. Neither the Agent nor any of its officers, directors, employees, agents, attorneys-in-fact or Affiliates shall be (1) liable
for any action lawfully taken or omitted to be taken by it or such Person under or in connection with the Loan Documents (except for its or such Person’s own
gross negligence or willful misconduct), or (2) responsible in any manner to any of the Lenders for any recitals, statements, representations or warranties made by
the Company or any officer thereof contained in the Loan Documents or in any certificate, report, statement or other document referred to or provided for in, or
received by the Agent under or in connection with the Loan Documents or for the value, validity, effectiveness, genuineness, enforceability or sufficiency of the
Loan
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Documents or for any failure of the Company to perform its obligations hereunder. The Agent shall not be under any obligation to any Lender to ascertain or to
inquire as to the observance or performance of any of the agreements contained in, or conditions of, the Loan Documents or to inspect the properties, books or
records of the Company.
 

13(d) Reliance by Agent. The Agent shall be entitled to rely, and shall be fully protected in relying, upon any note, writing, resolution, notice,
consent, certification, affidavit, letter, cablegram, telegram, telecopy, telex or teletype message, statement, order or other document or conversation reasonably
believed by it to be genuine and correct and to have been signed, sent or made by the proper Person or Persons and upon advice and statements of legal counsel
(including, without limitation, counsel to the Company), independent accountants and other experts selected by the Agent. The Agent may deem and treat the
payee of any note as the owner thereof for all purposes. As to the Lenders: (1) the Agent shall be fully justified in failing or refusing to take any action under the
Loan Documents unless it shall first receive such advice or concurrence of the Majority Lenders or all of the Lenders, as appropriate, or it shall first be
indemnified to its satisfaction by the Lenders ratably in accordance with their respective Percentage Shares against any and all liability and expense which may be
incurred by it by reason of taking or continuing to take any action (except for liabilities and expenses resulting from the Agent’s gross negligence or willful
misconduct), and (2) the Agent shall in all cases be fully protected in acting, or in refraining from acting, under the Loan Documents in accordance with a request
of the Majority Lenders or all of the Lenders, as appropriate, and such request and any action taken or failure to act pursuant thereto shall be binding upon all the
Lenders.
 

13(e) Notice of Default. The Agent shall not be deemed to have knowledge or notice of the occurrence of any Potential Default or Event of Default
hereunder unless the Agent has received notice from a Lender or the Company referring to the Loan Documents, describing such Potential Default or Event of
Default and stating that such notice is a “notice of default.” In the event that the Agent receives such a notice, the Agent shall give notice thereof to the Lenders.
The Agent shall take such action with respect to such Potential Default or Event of Default as shall be reasonably directed by the Majority Lenders provided that
such action is consistent with the provisions of this Agreement; provided that, unless and until the Agent shall have received such directions, the Agent may (but
shall not be obligated to) take such action, or refrain from taking such action, with respect to such Potential Default or Event of Default as it shall deem advisable
in the best interest of the Lenders.
 

13(f) Non-Reliance on Agent and Other Lenders. Each Lender expressly acknowledges that neither the Agent nor any of its officers, directors,
employees, agents, attorneys-in-fact or Affiliates has made any representations or warranties to it and that no act by the Agent hereinafter taken, including any
review of the affairs of the Company, shall be deemed to constitute any representation or warranty by the Agent to any Lender. Each Lender represents to the
Agent that it has, independently and without reliance upon the Agent or any other Lender, and based on such documents and information as it has deemed
appropriate, made its own appraisal of and investigation into the business, operations, property, financial and other condition and creditworthiness of the
Company and made its own decision to make its loans hereunder and enter into this Agreement. Each Lender also represents that it will, independently and
without reliance upon the Agent or any other Lender, and based on such documents and information as it shall deem appropriate at the time, continue to make its
own credit analysis, appraisals and decisions in taking or not taking action under this Agreement, and to make such investigation as it deems necessary to inform
itself as to the business, operations, property, financial and other condition and creditworthiness of the Company. Except for notices, reports and other documents
expressly required to be furnished to the Lenders by the Agent hereunder, the Agent shall not have any duty or responsibility to provide any Lender with any
credit or other information concerning the business, operations, property, financial and other condition or creditworthiness of the Company which may come into
the possession of the Agent or any of its officers, directors, employees, agents, attorneys-in-fact or Affiliates.
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13(g) Indemnification. The Lenders agree to indemnify the Agent in its capacity as such (to the extent not reimbursed by the Company and without
limiting the obligation of the Company to do so), ratably according to the respective amounts of their Percentage Shares, from and against any and all liabilities,
obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs, expenses or disbursements of any kind whatsoever which may at any time (including
without limitation at any time following the payment of the Obligations) be imposed on, incurred by or asserted against the Agent in any way relating to or arising
out of the Loan Documents or any documents contemplated by or referred to herein or the transactions contemplated hereby or any action taken or omitted by the
Agent under or in connection with any of the foregoing; provided that no Lender shall be liable for the payment of any portion of such liabilities, obligations,
losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs, expenses or disbursements resulting from the Agent’s gross negligence or willful misconduct. The
agreements in this subsection shall survive the payment of the Obligations.
 

13(h) Agent in Its Individual Capacity. The Agent and its Affiliates may make loans to, accept deposits from and generally engage in any kind of
business with the Company as though the Agent were not the Agent hereunder. With respect to such loans made or renewed by them, the Agent shall have the
same rights and powers under the Loan Documents as any Lender and may exercise the same as though it were not the Agent, and the terms “Lender” and
“Lenders” shall include the Agent in its individual capacity.
 

13(i) Successor Agent. The Agent may resign as Agent under the Loan Documents upon sixty (60) days’ notice to the Lenders and agrees that it will
so resign in the event it ceases to hold any Percentage Share of the Obligations. If the Agent shall resign as provided herein, then the Lenders (other than the
Agent) shall appoint from among the Lenders a successor agent or, if such Lenders are unable to agree on the appointment of a successor agent, the Agent shall
appoint a successor agent for the Lenders (which successor agent shall, in either case and assuming that there does not exist a Potential Default or Event of
Default, be reasonably acceptable to the Company), whereupon such successor agent shall succeed to the rights, powers and duties of the Agent, and the term
“Agent” shall mean such successor agent effective upon its appointment, and the former Agent’s rights, powers and duties as Agent shall be terminated, without
any other or further act or deed on the part of such former Agent or any of the parties to this Agreement or any of the Loan Documents or successors thereto.
After any retiring Agent’s resignation hereunder as Agent, the provisions of this Paragraph 13 shall inure to its benefit as to any actions taken or omitted to be
taken by it while it was Agent under the Loan Documents.
 

14. Miscellaneous Provisions.
 14(a) No Assignment. The Company may not assign its rights or obligations under this Agreement without the prior written consent of one hundred
percent (100%) of the Agent and the Lenders. Any attempted assignment in violation of this provision shall automatically be deemed null and void. Subject to the
foregoing, all provisions contained in this Agreement or any document or agreement referred to herein or relating hereto shall inure to the benefit of each Lender,
its successors and assigns, and shall be binding upon the Company, its successors and assigns.
 

14(b) Amendment. This Agreement may not be amended or terms or provisions hereof waived unless such amendment or waiver is in writing and
signed by the Majority Lenders, the Agent and the Company; provided, however, that without the prior written consent of one hundred percent (100%) of the
Agent and the Lenders, no amendment or waiver shall: (1) reduce the principal of, or rate
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of interest or fees on, the Revolving Loans or any Letter of Credit or extend or otherwise modify the required amount or due date for any Revolving Loan or any
L/C Drawing, (2) modify any Lender’s Percentage Share (except as the result of an assignment permitted under Paragraph 14(h)(1) below), (3) modify any
provision of the Loan Documents requiring one hundred percent (100%) of the Lenders to act, (4) modify the definition of “Majority Lenders,” (5) release any
Guarantor from its obligations under its Guaranty or Guarantor Security Agreement or, except as expressly contemplated by the Loan Documents, release any
collateral at any time held for the Obligations, or (6) amend this Paragraph 14(b). It is expressly agreed and understood that the failure by the required Lenders to
elect to accelerate amounts outstanding hereunder and/or to terminate the obligation of the Lenders to make Revolving Loans, the L/C Issuing Bank to issue
Letters of Credit, or the FX Lender to enter into FX Transactions with the Company hereunder shall not constitute an amendment or waiver of any term or
provision of this Agreement.
 

14(c) Cumulative Rights; No Waiver. The rights, powers and remedies of the Lenders hereunder are cumulative and in addition to all rights, power
and remedies provided under any and all agreements between the Company and the Lenders relating hereto, at law, in equity or otherwise. Any delay or failure by
the Lenders to exercise any right, power or remedy shall not constitute a waiver thereof by the Lenders, and no single or partial exercise by the Lenders of any
right, power or remedy shall preclude other or further exercise thereof or any exercise of any other rights, powers or remedies.
 

14(d) Entire Agreement. This Agreement and the documents and agreements referred to herein embody the entire agreement and understanding
between the parties hereto and supersede all prior agreements and understandings relating to the subject matter hereof and thereof.
 

14(e) Survival. All representations, warranties, covenants and agreements herein contained on the part of the Company shall survive the termination
of this Agreement and shall be effective until the Obligations are paid and performed in full or longer as expressly provided herein.
 

14(f) Notices. All notices given by any party to the others shall be in writing unless otherwise provided for herein, delivered by facsimile
transmission, by personal delivery or by overnight courier, addressed to the party as set forth on Annex 2 attached hereto, as such Annex 2 may be amended from
time to time. Any party may change the address to which notices are to be sent by notice of such change to each other party given as provided herein. Such
notices shall be effective on the date received.
 

14(g) Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of California without giving
effect to its choice of law rules.
 

14(h) Assignments, Participations, Etc.
 (1) Any Lender may at any time, with the consent of the Agent and, but only so long as there does not exist an Event of Default, the Company

(which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld by the Company), assign and delegate to one or more financial institutions (each an “Assignee”) all, or
any ratable part of all, of the Revolving Loans and the other rights and obligations of such Lender hereunder in a minimum amount of $5,000.000.00;
provided, however, that the Company and the Agent may continue to deal solely and directly with such Lender in connection with the interest so assigned
to an Assignee until (i) written notice of such assignment, together with payment instructions, addresses and related information with respect to the
Assignee, shall have been given to the Company and the Agent by such Lender and the Assignee; and (ii) such Lender and its Assignee shall have
delivered to the Company and the Agent
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an Assignment and Acceptance Agreement. From and after the date that the Agent notifies the assignor Lender that it has received an executed Assignment
and Acceptance Agreement, (i) the Assignee thereunder shall be a party hereto and, to the extent that rights and obligations hereunder and under the other
Loan Documents have been assigned to it pursuant to such Assignment and Acceptance Agreement, shall have the rights and obligations of a Lender under
the Loan Documents, and (ii) the assignor Lender shall, to the extent that rights and obligations hereunder and under the other Loan Documents have been
assigned by it pursuant to such Assignment and Acceptance Agreement, relinquish its rights and be released from its obligations under the Loan
Documents. Upon the effective date of such assignment, this Agreement and the other Loan Documents shall be deemed to be amended to the extent, but
only to the extent, necessary to reflect the addition of the Assignee and the resulting adjustment of the Percentage Share arising therefrom.

 (2) Any Lender may at any time sell to one or more financial institutions or other Persons (each a “Participant”) participating interests in any
Revolving Loans, the funding commitment of that Lender and the other interests of that Lender (the “originating Lender”) hereunder and under the other
Loan Documents; provided, however, that (i) the originating Lender’s obligations under this Agreement shall remain unchanged, (ii) the originating Lender
shall remain solely responsible for the performance of such obligations, (iii) the Company and the Agent shall continue to deal solely and directly with the
originating Lender in connection with the originating Lender’s rights and obligations under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents, and (iv)
following such sale that Lender shall continue to hold for its own account a Percentage Share of the Aggregate Credit Limit of not less than $5,000,000.00.

 (3) Notwithstanding any other provision contained in this Agreement or any other Loan Document to the contrary, any Lender may assign all
or any portion of the Revolving Loans held by it to any Federal Reserve Lender or the United States Treasury as collateral security pursuant to Regulation
A of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System and any Operating Circular issued by such Federal Reserve Lender.

 
14(i) Counterparts. This Agreement and the other Loan Documents may be executed in any number of counterparts, all of which together shall

constitute one agreement.
 

14(j) Sharing of Payments. If any Lender shall receive and retain any payment, whether by setoff, application of deposit balance or security, or
otherwise, in respect of the Obligations in excess of such Lender’s Percentage Share thereof, then such Lender shall purchase from the other Lenders for cash and
at face value and without recourse, such participation in the Obligations held by them as shall be necessary to cause such excess payment to be shared ratably as
aforesaid with each of them; provided, that if such excess payment or part thereof is thereafter recovered from such purchasing Lender, the related purchases from
the other Lenders shall be rescinded ratably and the purchase price restored as to the portion of such excess payment so recovered, but without interest. Each
Lender is hereby authorized by the Company to exercise any and all rights of setoff, counterclaim or bankers’ lien against the full amount of the Obligations,
whether or not held by such Lender. Each Lender hereby agrees to exercise any such rights first against the Obligations and only then to any other Indebtedness of
the Company to such Lender.
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14(k) Consent to Jurisdiction. ANY LEGAL ACTION OR PROCEEDING WITH RESPECT TO THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY OTHER LOAN
DOCUMENT MAY BE BROUGHT IN THE COURTS OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA OR OF THE UNITED STATES FOR THE CENTRAL DISTRICT
OF CALIFORNIA, AND BY EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF THIS AGREEMENT, EACH OF THE COMPANY, THE AGENT AND THE LENDERS
CONSENTS, FOR ITSELF AND IN RESPECT OF ITS PROPERTY, TO THE NON-EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OF THOSE COURTS. EACH OF THE
COMPANY, THE AGENT AND THE LENDERS IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY OBJECTION, INCLUDING ANY OBJECTION TO THE LAYING OF
VENUE OR BASED ON THE GROUNDS OF FORUM NON CONVENIENS, WHICH IT MAY NOW OR HEREAFTER HAVE TO THE BRINGING OF
ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING IN SUCH JURISDICTION IN RESPECT OF THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY DOCUMENT RELATED HERETO. THE
COMPANY, THE AGENT AND THE LENDERS EACH WAIVE PERSONAL SERVICE OF ANY SUMMONS, COMPLAINT OR OTHER PROCESS,
WHICH MAY BE MADE BY ANY OTHER MEANS PERMITTED BY CALIFORNIA LAW.
 

14(l) Waiver of Jury Trial. THE COMPANY, THE LENDERS AND THE AGENT EACH WAIVE THEIR RESPECTIVE RIGHTS TO A TRIAL
BY JURY OF ANY CLAIM OR CAUSE OF ACTION BASED UPON OR ARISING OUT OF OR RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT, THE OTHER LOAN
DOCUMENTS, OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY OR THEREBY, IN ANY ACTION, PROCEEDING OR OTHER LITIGATION OF
ANY TYPE BROUGHT BY ANY OF THE PARTIES AGAINST ANY OTHER PARTY OR ANY PARTICIPANT OR ASSIGNEE, WHETHER WITH
RESPECT TO CONTRACT CLAIMS, TORT CLAIMS, OR OTHERWISE. THE COMPANY, THE LENDERS AND THE AGENT EACH AGREE THAT
ANY SUCH CLAIM OR CAUSE OF ACTION SHALL BE TRIED BY A COURT TRIAL WITHOUT A JURY. WITHOUT LIMITING THE FOREGOING,
THE PARTIES FURTHER AGREE THAT THEIR RESPECTIVE RIGHT TO A TRIAL BY JURY IS WAIVED BY OPERATION OF THIS SECTION AS TO
ANY ACTION, COUNTERCLAIM OR OTHER PROCEEDING WHICH SEEKS, IN WHOLE OR IN PART, TO CHALLENGE THE VALIDITY OR
ENFORCEABILITY OF THIS AGREEMENT OR THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS OR ANY PROVISION HEREOF OR THEREOF. THIS WAIVER
SHALL APPLY TO ANY SUBSEQUENT AMENDMENTS, RENEWALS, SUPPLEMENTS OR MODIFICATIONS TO THIS AGREEMENT AND THE
OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS.
 

14(m) Indemnity. Whether or not the transactions contemplated hereby are consummated, the Company shall indemnify and hold the Agent and each
Lender and each of their respective officers, directors, employees, counsel, agents and attorneys-in-fact (each, an “Indemnified Person”) harmless from and
against any and all liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs, charges, expenses and disbursements (including reasonable
attorney’s fees and expenses, including the documented cost of internal counsel) of any kind or nature whatsoever which may at any time (including at any time
following repayment of the Revolving Loans and the termination, resignation or replacement of the Agent or replacement of any Lender) be imposed on, incurred
by or asserted against any such Person in any way relating to or arising out of this Agreement or any document contemplated by or referred to herein, or the
transactions contemplated hereby, or any action taken or omitted by any such Person under or in connection with any of the foregoing, including with respect to
any investigation, litigation or proceeding (including any insolvency proceeding or appellate proceeding) related to or arising out of this Agreement, the
Revolving Loans or any Letter of Credit issued hereunder, or the use of the proceeds thereof, whether or not any Indemnified Person is a party thereto (all the
foregoing, collectively, the “Indemnified Liabilities”); provided, however, that the Company shall have no obligation hereunder to any Indemnified Person with
respect to Indemnified Liabilities resulting from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of such Indemnified Person. The agreements in this Paragraph 14(m)
shall survive payment of all other Obligations and the termination of this Agreement.
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14(n) Marshalling; Payments Set Aside. Neither the Agent nor the Lenders shall be under any obligation to marshal any assets in favor of the
Company or any other Person or against or in payment of any or all of the Obligations. To the extent that the Company makes a payment or payments to the
Agent or the Lenders (through the Agent), or the Agent on behalf of the Lenders enforces their Liens or exercise their rights of set-off, and such payment or
payments or the proceeds of such enforcement or set-off or any part thereof are subsequently invalidated, declared to be fraudulent or preferential, set aside or
required (including pursuant to any settlement entered into by the Agent in its discretion) to be repaid to a trustee, receiver or any other party in connection with
any insolvency proceeding, or otherwise, then (1) to the extent of such recovery the obligation or part thereof originally intended to be satisfied shall be revived
and continued in full force and effect as if such payment had not been made or such enforcement or set-off had not occurred, and (2) each Lender severally agrees
to pay to the Agent upon demand its ratable share of the total amount so recovered from or repaid by the Agent.
 

14(o) Set-off. In addition to any rights and remedies of the Lenders provided by law, if an Event of Default exists, each Lender is authorized at any
time and from time to time, without prior notice to the Company, any such notice being waived by the Company to the fullest extent permitted by law, to set off
and apply any and all deposits (general or special, time or demand, provisional or final) at any time held by, and other indebtedness at any time owing to, such
Lender to or for the credit or the account of the Company against any and all Obligations owing to such Lender, now or hereafter existing, irrespective of whether
or not the Agent or such Lender shall have made demand under this Agreement or any Loan Document and although such Obligations may be contingent or
unmatured. Each Lender agrees promptly to notify the Company and the Agent after any such set-off and application made by such Lender; provided, however,
that the failure to give such notice shall not affect the validity of such set-off and application.
 

14(p) Severability. The illegality or unenforceability of any provision of this Agreement or any other Loan Document or any instrument or
agreement required hereunder or thereunder shall not in any way affect or impair the legality or enforceability of the remaining provisions hereof or thereof.
 

14(q) No Third Parties Benefited. This Agreement and the other Loan Documents are made and entered into for the sole protection and legal benefit
of the Company, the Lenders and the Agent, and their permitted successors and assigns, and no other Person shall be a direct or indirect legal beneficiary of, or
have any direct or indirect cause of action or claim in connection with, this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents. Neither the Agent nor any Lender
shall have any obligation to any Person not a party to this Agreement or other Loan Documents.
 

15. Definitions. For purposes of this Agreement, the terms set forth below shall have the following meanings:
 “Additional Collateral Documents” shall have the meaning given such term in Paragraph 7(a) above.
 

“Affiliate” shall mean, as to any Person, any other Person directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by or under direct or indirect common control
with, such Person. “Control” as used herein means with respect to any business entity the power to direct the management and policies of such business entity.
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“Agent” shall have the meaning given such term in the introductory paragraph hereof and shall include any successor to BOW as the initial “Agent”
hereunder.
 

“Aggregate Credit Limit” shall mean $50,000,000.00, as such dollar amount may be increased or decreased by the mutual written agreement of the
Agent, the Company and one hundred percent (100%) of the Lenders.
 

“Agreement” shall mean this Agreement, as the same may be amended, extended or replaced from time to time.
 

“Applicable L/C Fee Percentage” shall mean the percentage amount calculated in accordance with the Pricing Matrix.
 

“Applicable LIBO Rate” shall mean, with respect to any LIBO Rate Loan for the Interest Period applicable to such LIBO Rate Loan, the rate per
annum (rounded upward, if necessary, to the next higher 1/16 of one percent) calculated as of the first day of such Interest Period in accordance with the
following formula:
 

Applicable LIBO Rate =     LR     +     ALS
  1-LRP  
 where

LR = LIBO Rate
LRP = LIBOR Reserve Percentage
ALS = Applicable LIBOR Spread

 
“Applicable LIBOR Spread” shall mean the percentage amount calculated in accordance with the Pricing Matrix.

 
“Applicable Reference Rate” shall mean, shall mean a floating rate per annum equal to the daily average Reference Rate on each day of the

applicable calculation period plus the Applicable Reference Rate Spread.
 

“Applicable Reference Rate Spread” shall mean the percentage amount calculated in accordance with the Pricing Matrix.
 

“Assignee” shall have the meaning given such term in Paragraph 14(h)(1) above.
 

“Assignment and Acceptance Agreement” shall mean an agreement in the form of that attached hereto as Exhibit E.
 

“Company” shall have the meaning given such term in the preamble hereto.
 

“Business Day” shall mean any day other than a Saturday, a Sunday or a day on which banks in Los Angeles, California are authorized or obligated
to close their regular banking business.
 

“Capital Expenditures” shall mean, for any period, the aggregate of all expenditures by the Company and its Subsidiaries for the acquisition or
leasing of fixed or capital assets or additions to equipment (including replacements, capitalized repairs and improvements during such period) which should be
capitalized under GAAP on a consolidated balance sheet of the Company and its Subsidiaries, less net proceeds from sales of fixed or capital assets received by
the Company or any of its Subsidiaries during such period.
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“Collateral” shall have the meaning given such term in the Security Agreement and the Guarantor Security Agreements, as applicable.
 

“Commonly Controlled Entity” of a Person shall mean a Person, whether or not incorporated, which is under common control with such Person
within the meaning of Section 411(c) of the Internal Revenue Code.
 

“Compliance Certificate” shall mean a certificate in the form of that attached hereto as Exhibit F.
 

“Contact Office” shall mean the office of the Agent located at 9000 East Valley Boulevard, Rosemead, California 91770 or such other office as the
Agent may notify the Company and the Lenders from time to time in writing.
 

“Contractual Obligation” as to any Person shall mean any provision of any security issued by such Person or of any agreement, instrument or
undertaking to which such Person is a party or by which it or any of its property is bound.
 

“Credit Event” shall mean the funding, continuation or conversion of any Loan, the issuance of any Letter of Credit, or the entering into of any FX
Transaction.
 

“Credit Percentage” shall mean fifteen percent (15%).
 

“Effective Date” shall mean the date on which all conditions precedent to the occurrence of the first Credit Event set forth in Paragraph 8(a) above
have been met to the satisfaction of the Agent and the Lenders.
 

“Effective Tangible Net Worth” shall mean for any Person at any date the sum of (a) Tangible Net Worth plus (b) Subordinated Debt.
 

“Environmental Claims” shall mean all claims, however asserted, by any governmental authority or other person alleging potential liability or
responsibility for violation of any Environmental Law or for release or injury to the environment or threat to public health, personal injury (including sickness,
disease or death), property damage, natural resources damage, or otherwise alleging liability or responsibility for damages (punitive or otherwise), cleanup,
removal, remedial or response costs, restitution, civil or criminal penalties, injunctive relief, or other type of relief, resulting from or based upon (i) the presence,
placement, discharge, emission or release (including intentional and unintentional, negligent and non-negligent, sudden or non-sudden, accidental or non-
accidental placement, spills, leaks, discharges, emissions or releases) of any Hazardous Materials at, in, or from property owned, operated or controlled by the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or (ii) any other circumstances forming the basis of any violation, or alleged violation, of any Environmental Law.
 

“Environmental Laws” shall mean all federal, state or local laws, statutes, common law duties, rules, regulations, ordinances and codes, together
with all administrative orders, directed duties, requested, licenses, authorizations and permits of, and agreements with, any governmental authorities, in each case
relating to environmental, health, safety and land use matters; including the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980
(“CERCLA”), the Clean Air Act, the Federal Water Pollution Control Act of 1972, the Solid Waste Disposal Act, the Federal Resource
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Conservation and Recovery Act, the Toxic Substances Control Act, the Emergency Planning and Community Right-to-Know Act, the California Waste Control
Law, the California Solid Waste Management, Resource, Recovery and Recycling Act, the California Water Code and the California Health and Safety Code.
 

“Environmental Permits” shall have the meaning given such term in Paragraph 9(p) above.
 

“ERISA” shall mean the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as the same may from time to time be supplemented or amended.
 

“Event of Default” shall have the meaning given such term in Paragraph 12 above.
 

“Existing Credit Agreement” shall have the meaning given such term in Recital A above.
 

“Existing Credit Facilities” shall have the meaning given such term in Recital A above.
 

“Foreign Currency” shall mean any legally traded currency other than US dollars which may be transferred by paperless wire transfer or cash and in
which the FX Lender regularly trades.
 

“Foreign Exchange Facility Maturity Date” shall mean November 30, 2004.
 

“Funded Debt” shall mean shall mean for any Person at any date of calculation the aggregate dollar amount of Indebtedness of such Person which
has actually been funded and is outstanding at such time, whether or not such amount is due and payable on such date and including, without limitation, the
aggregate amount available for drawing under outstanding letters of credit on which such Person is the account party.
 

“Funding Account” shall mean account no. 752-04010 maintained in the Company’s name with the Agent or such other account or accounts as the
Agent and the Company may from time to time agree.
 

“FX Application” shall mean an application for the FX Lender to enter into a FX Transaction with the Company or a Guarantor in form satisfactory
to the FX Lender which shall specify, in any event, the Foreign Currency to be purchased or sold, the amount of such Foreign Currency and the Settlement Date
of such FX Transaction.
 

“FX Lender” shall mean BOW.
 

“FX Limit” shall mean $4,500,000.00.
 

“FX Risk Liability” shall mean the product of: (a) the Credit Percentage, multiplied by (b) the aggregate of the Notional Values of all FX
Transactions outstanding, net of any Offsetting Transactions.
 

“FX Transaction” shall mean any transaction between the FX Lender and the Company or a Guarantor pursuant to which the FX Lender has agreed
to sell to or to purchase from the Company or such Guarantor a Foreign Currency of an agreed amount at an agreed price is US dollars or such other agreed upon
Foreign Currency, deliverable and payable on an agreed date.
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“GAAP” shall mean generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America in effect from time to time.
 

“Governmental Authority” shall mean any nation or government, any state or other political subdivision thereof, or any entity exercising executive,
legislative, judicial, regulatory or administrative functions of or pertaining to government.
 

“Guarantor” shall mean any of the Persons listed on Annex 4 attached hereto.
 

“Guarantor Security Agreement” shall have the meaning given such term in Paragraph 7(b) above.
 

“Guaranty” shall have the meaning given such term in Paragraph 7(b) above.
 

“Hazardous Materials” shall mean:
 (a) “Hazardous substances,” “hazardous wastes,” “hazardous materials,” or “toxic substances,” as defined in any of the Hazardous Material
Laws;
 

(b) Any pollutant or contaminant, or hazardous, dangerous or toxic chemical, material, waste or substance (“pollutant”) which Hazardous
Material Laws prohibit, limit or otherwise regulate as to use, exposure, release, generation, manufacture, sale, transport, handling, storage, treatment, reuse,
presence, disposal or recycling;
 

(c) Petroleum, crude oil or any fraction of petroleum or crude oil;
 

(d) Any radioactive material, including any source, special nuclear or by-product material, as defined at 42 U.S.C. §2011 et seq., and
amendments thereto and reauthorizations thereof;
 

(e) Asbestos-containing materials in any form or condition; and
 

(f) Polychlorinated biphenyls.
 

“Indebtedness” of any Person shall mean all items of indebtedness which, in accordance with GAAP and practices, would be included in determining
liabilities as shown on the liability side of a statement of condition of such Person as of the date as of which indebtedness is to be determined, including, without
limitation, all obligations for money borrowed and capitalized lease obligations, and shall also include all indebtedness and liabilities of others assumed or
guaranteed by such Person or in respect of which such Person is secondarily or contingently liable (other than by endorsement of instruments in the course of
collection) whether by reason of any agreement to acquire such indebtedness or to supply or advance sums or otherwise.
 

“Interest Period” shall mean with respect to any Loan which is being maintained as a LIBO Rate Loan, the period commencing on the date such
Loan is advanced and ending one, two, three or six months thereafter, as designated in the related Loan Request; provided, however, that (a) any Interest Period
which would otherwise end on a day which is not a LIBOR Business Day shall be extended to the next succeeding LIBOR Business Day unless by such extension
it would fall in another calendar month, in which case such Interest Period shall end on the immediately preceding LIBOR Business Day, (b) any Interest Period
which begins on a day for which there is no numerically
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corresponding day in the calendar month in which such Interest Period is to end shall, subject to the provisions of clause (a) above, end on the last day of such
calendar month, and (c) no Interest Period shall end after the regularly scheduled Revolving Loan Maturity Date.
 

“Interim Date” shall mean September 30, 2003.
 

“L/C Documents” shall mean any and all documents, instruments and agreements as the L/C Issuing Bank may require be delivered to it as a
condition precedent to the issuance by the L/C Issuing Bank of a Letter of Credit.
 

“L/C Drawing” shall mean any drawing under a Letter of Credit.
 

“L/C Issuing Bank” shall mean that Lender which has agreed, with the consent of the remaining Lenders, to issue the Letters of Credit, with the
initial L/C Issuing Bank being BOW.
 

“Letter of Credit” shall have the meaning given such term in Paragraph 3(a) above, and shall include, without limitation, the Pre-Existing Letters of
Credit.
 

“Letter of Credit Application” shall mean an application for the issuance of a Letter of Credit in form satisfactory to the L/C Issuing Bank.
 

“LIBO Rate” shall mean, with respect to any LIBO Rate Loan for any Interest Period, the rate per annum determined by the Agent to be the rate as
of approximately 11:00 a.m. (London time) on the date that is two LIBOR Business Days prior to the beginning of the relevant Interest Period quoted as the
British Bankers Association Interest Settlement Rate for deposits in dollars (as set forth in any service selected by the Agent which has been nominated by the
British Bankers’ Association as an authorized information vendor for purpose of displaying such rates) for a period equal to such Interest Period; provided that, to
the extent that an interest rate is not ascertainable pursuant to the foregoing provisions of this definition, the “LIBO Rate” shall be the interest rate per annum
determined by the Agent to be the average of the rates per annum at which deposits in dollars are offered for such relevant Interest Period to major banks in the
London interbank market in London, England by any Affiliate of the Agent at approximately 11:00 a.m. (London time) on the date that is two LIBOR Business
Days prior to the beginning of such Interest Period.
 

“LIBO Rate Loans” shall mean Loans outstanding hereunder at such time as they are made and/or being maintained at a rate of interest based upon
the LIBO Rate.
 

“LIBOR Business Day” shall mean a Business Day upon which commercial banks in London, England are open for domestic and international
business.
 

“LIBOR Reserve Percentage” shall mean with respect to an Interest Period for a LIBO Rate Loan, the maximum aggregate reserve requirement
(including all basic, supplemental, marginal and other reserves and taking into account any transitional adjustments) which is imposed under Regulation D on
eurocurrency liabilities.
 

“Lien” shall mean any security interest, mortgage, pledge, lien, claim on property, charge or encumbrance (including any conditional sale or other
title retention agreement), any lease in the nature thereof, and the filing of or agreement to give any financial statement under the Uniform Commercial Code of
any jurisdiction.
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“Loan Documents” shall mean this Agreement, the Security Agreement, the Guaranties, the Guarantor Security Agreements, the Letters of Credit,
the Letter of Credit Applications and other L/C Documents, the FX Applications, and each other document, instrument or agreement executed by the Company
and/or any Guarantor in connection herewith or therewith, as any of the same may be amended, extended or replaced from time to time.
 

“Loan Request” shall mean a request for a Loan in form satisfactory to the Agent.
 

“Majority Lenders” shall mean the Lenders holding not less than fifty one percent (51%) of the Percentage Shares; provided, however, that at any
time during which the number of Lenders hereunder are less than three, the term “Majority Lenders” shall mean one hundred percent (100%) of the Lenders.
 

“Material Adverse Effect” shall mean a material adverse change in, or a material adverse effect upon, any of: (a) the operations, business, properties,
condition (financial or otherwise) or prospects of the Company; (b) a material impairment of the ability of the Company or the Guarantor to perform under any
Loan Document to which it is party and to avoid any Event of Default; or (c) a material adverse effect upon the legality, validity, binding effect or enforceability
of any Loan Document or the perfection or priority of the Lender’s security interest in the Collateral.
 

“Multiemployer Plan” as to any Person shall mean a Plan of such Person which is a multiemployer plan as defined in Section 4001(a)(3) of ERISA.
 

“Notional Value” shall mean the US dollar equivalent of the price at which the FX Lender agreed to purchase or sell to the Company a Foreign
Currency.
 

“Obligations” shall mean any and all debts, obligations and liabilities of the Company to the Lenders (whether now existing or hereafter arising,
voluntary or involuntary, whether or not jointly owed with others, direct or indirect, absolute or contingent, liquidated or unliquidated, and whether or not from
time to time decreased or extinguished and later increased, created or incurred), arising out of or related to the Loan Documents and including, without any
limitation, any obligations of the Company to any Lender with respect to any Swap Agreement related to the Obligations.
 

“Offsetting Transaction” shall mean a FX Transaction to purchase a Foreign Currency and a FX Transaction to sell the same Foreign Currency, each
with the same Settlement Date and designated as an Offsetting Transaction at the time of entering into such FX Transaction.
 

“Outstanding” shall mean with respect to Letters of Credit, any Letter of Credit which has not been canceled, expired unutilized or fully drawn upon
and reference to the “amount” of any Outstanding Letter of Credit shall be deemed to mean the amount available for drawing thereunder.
 

“Participant” shall have the meaning given such term in Paragraph 14(h)(2) above.
 

“PBGC” shall mean the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation established pursuant to Subtitle A of Title IV of ERISA and any successor thereto.
 

“Percentage Share” shall mean, for any Lender at any date that percentage agreed to by such Lender in writing, with the initial Percentage Shares of
the Lenders being set forth on Annex 5 attached hereto.
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“Person” shall mean any corporation, natural person, firm, joint venture, partnership, limited liability Company, trust, unincorporated organization,
government or any department or agency of any government.
 

“Plan” shall mean as to any Person, any pension plan that is covered by Title IV of ERISA and in respect of which such Person or a Commonly
Controlled Entity of such Person is an “employer” as defined in Section 3(5) of ERISA.
 

“Potential Default” shall mean an event which but for the lapse of time or the giving of notice, or both, would constitute an Event of Default.
 

“Pre-Existing Letters of Credit” shall have the meaning given such term in Paragraph 3(i) above.
 

“Pricing Matrix” shall mean the matrix attached hereto as Annex 3.
 

“Property” shall mean, collectively and severally, any and all real property, including all improvements and fixtures thereon, owned or occupied by
the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.
 

“Reference Rate” shall mean the fluctuating per annum rate announced from time to time by the Agent in Los Angeles, California, as its “Reference
Rate”. The Reference Rate is a rate set by the Agent based upon various factors including the Agent’s costs and desired return, general economic conditions, and
other factors, and is used as a reference point for pricing some loans, which may be priced at, above or below the Reference Rate.
 

“Reference Rate Loans” shall mean Loans hereunder during such time as they are made and/or being maintained at a rate of interest based upon the
Reference Rate.
 

“Regulation D” shall mean Regulation D of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (12 C.F.R. § 221), as the same may from time to
time be amended, supplemented or superseded.
 

“Regulation U” shall mean Regulation U of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (12 C.F.R. § 221), as the same may from time to
time be amended, supplemented or superseded.
 

“Reportable Event” shall mean a reportable event as defined in Title IV of ERISA, except actions of general applicability by the Secretary of Labor
under Section 110 of ERISA.
 

“Requirements of Law” shall mean as to any Person the Certificate of Incorporation and ByLaws or other organizational or governing documents of
such Person, and any law, treaty, rule or regulation, or a final and binding determination of an arbitrator or a determination of a court or other Governmental
Authority, in each case applicable to or binding upon such Person or any of its property or to which such Person or any of its property is subject.
 

“Responsible Financial Officer” shall mean as to any Person, the chief financial officer, treasurer, assistant treasurer, comptroller, controller, or any
other senior officer of such Person having the same general duties and responsibilities of any of the foregoing.
 

“Revolving Facility Credit Limit” shall mean $20,000,000.00.
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“Revolving Loan” shall have the meaning given such term in Paragraph 1(a) above.
 

“Revolving Loan Maturity Date” shall mean the earlier of: (a) November 30, 2005, as such date may be extended from time to time in writing by one
hundred percent (100%) of the Lenders, in their sole discretion, and (b) the date the Lenders terminate their obligation to make further Loans hereunder pursuant
to Paragraph 12 above.
 

“Security Agreement” shall have the meaning given such term in Paragraph 7(a) above.
 

“Security Documents” shall mean the Security Agreement, each Guarantor Security Agreement, the Additional Collateral Documents, and any
document, instrument, or agreement executed and/or delivered in connection with any of the foregoing.
 

“Settlement Date” shall mean, with respect to any FX Transaction, the Business Day on which the Company or a Guarantor has agreed to (a) deliver
the required amount of Foreign Currency to the FX Lender, or (b) pay to the FX Lender in US dollars the agreed upon purchase price of the Foreign Currency.
 

“Single Employer Plan” shall mean as to any Person any Plan of such Person which is not a Multiemployer Plan.
 

“Statement Date” shall mean June 30, 2003.
 

“Subordinated Debt” shall mean Indebtedness subordinated to the Obligations pursuant to a written subordination agreement in form and substance
acceptable to the Agent, in its sole and absolute discretion.
 

“Subsidiary” shall mean with respect to any Person, any corporation, partnership or joint venture more than fifty percent (50%) of the stock or other
ownership interest of which having by the terms thereof ordinary voting power to elect the board of directors, managers or trustees of such corporation,
partnership or joint venture shall, at the time as of which any determination is being made, be owned by such Person, either directly or through Subsidiaries of
such Person (irrespective of whether or not at the time stock of any other class or classes of such corporation shall have or might have voting power by reason of
the happening of any contingency).
 

“Swap Agreement” shall mean an interest rate swap agreement on the International Swap Dealers Association, Inc. (“ISDA”) Master Agreement
form and subject to the terms and conditions therein with schedules and confirmations attached (such agreement, together with all confirmations incorporated
therein, and all amendments, modifications, supplements, riders, exhibits, schedules and attachments thereto.
 

“Tangible Net Worth” shall mean for any Person at any time of determination, total assets (exclusive of equity investments in Subsidiaries and other
Persons, notes receivable from Affiliates, goodwill, patents, trademarks, trade names, organization expense, treasury stock, unamortized debt discount and
premium, deferred charges and other like intangibles and leasehold improvements) less Total Liabilities at such time.
 

“Total Liabilities” shall mean for any Person at any time of determination, all liabilities of such Person which in accordance with GAAP would be
shown on the liability side of a balance sheet of such Person, determined in accordance with GAAP, but including in any event the maximum amount available for
drawing under all Outstanding Letters of Credit and excluding Subordinated Debt.
 

[Signature Page Following]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the day and year first above written.
 

OSI SYSTEMS, INC., a California corporation

By:
 

 

  Anuj Wadhawan, Chief Financial Officer

BANK OF THE WEST, as Agent, L/C Issuing Bank,
FX Lender, and sole initial Lender

By
 

 

  Gregg M. Hessick, Vice President
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ANNEXES, SCHEDULES, AND EXHIBITS TO CREDIT AGREEMENT
 

Annexes    

Annex 1   Pre-Existing Letters of Credit

Annex 2   Schedule of Addresses for Notice, Etc.

Annex 3   Pricing Matrix

Annex 4   Schedule of Guarantors

Annex 5   Schedule of Percentage Shares

Schedules    

Schedule 9(f)   Schedule of Material Litigation

Schedule 9(i)   Schedule of Subsidiaries

Exhibits    

Exhibit A   Form of Security Agreement

Exhibit B   Form of Guaranty

Exhibit C   Form of Guarantor Security Agreement

Exhibit D   Form of Officer’s Certificate

Exhibit E   Form of Assignment and Acceptance Agreement

Exhibit F   Form of Compliance Certificate



Exhibit 31.1
 

CERTIFICATION
 

Certification required by Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a)
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

 
I, Deepak Chopra, certify that:
 1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of OSI Systems, Inc.;
 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial

condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange

Act Rules 13a-15(e)) for the registrant and have:
 (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure

that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 (b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 (c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

 
Date: February 13, 2004
 

/s/    DEEPAK CHOPRA         

Deepak Chopra
Chief Executive Officer

 



Exhibit 31.2
 

CERTIFICATION
 

Certification required by Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a)
And under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

 
I, Anuj Wadhawan, certify that:
 1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of OSI Systems, Inc.;
 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial

condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange

Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:
 (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure

that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 (b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 (c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

 
Date: February 13, 2004
 

/s/    ANUJ WADHAWAN         

Anuj Wadhawan
Chief Financial Officer

 



Exhibit 32.1
 

CERTIFICATION
 

Certification of Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350

 
In connection with the Quarterly Report of OSI Systems, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2003 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Deepak Chopra, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
 
 1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and
 
 

2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company at
the dates and for the periods presented in this Report.

 
Date: February 13, 2004
 

/s/    DEEPAK CHOPRA         

Deepak Chopra
Chief Executive Officer

 
A signed original of this written statement required by section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided to OSI Systems, Inc. and will be retained
by OSI Systems, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
 



Exhibit 32.2
 

CERTIFICATION
 

Certification of Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350

 
In connection with the Quarterly Report of OSI Systems, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2003 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Anuj Wadhawan, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18,
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
 
 1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and
 
 

2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company at
the dates and for the periods presented in this Report.

 
Date: February 13, 2004
 

/s/    ANUJ WADHAWAN         

Anuj Wadhawan
Chief Financial Officer

 
A signed original of this written statement required by section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided to OSI Systems, Inc. and will be retained
by OSI Systems, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
 


